
Board of Health Meeting Package 

Table of Contents 

Agenda ......................................................................................................................................... 3 

Minutes ........................................................................................................................................ 6 

Presentation ............................................................................................................................... 16 

Report of MOH/CEO .................................................................................................................. 32 

Report of Finance and Audit Committee ................................................................................... 40 

Report of Governance Standing Committee ............................................................................. 62 

New Business ............................................................................................................................. 77 

Correspondence Items ............................................................................................................... 89 

Items for Information .............................................................................................................. 125 

1 of 134



MONTHLY BOARD PACKAGE 

FOR THE MEETING DATED: 

October 28, 2015 

TIME & PLACE: 

5:00 P.M. 

Algoma Public Health, Sault Ste. Marie, 

3
rd

 Floor, Prince Meeting Room 

Algoma Public Health with Maamwesying North Shore Community Health Services 

at the first launch site for Doodooshaaboo, it takes a community to breastfeed.    

 
 

2 of 134



ALGOMA PUBLIC HEALTH BOARD MEETING 

October 28, 2015 @ 5:00 pm 

SAULT STE MARIE ROOM A&B, 1
ST

 FLOOR, APH SSM 

A*G*E*N*D*A  

1) Meeting Called to Order by Mr. L. Mason, Board Chair

a) Declaration of Conflict of Interest

2) Adoption of Agenda Items Dated October 28 , 2015

Resolution 

THAT the agenda items dated October 28, 2015 be adopted as circulated; and 

THAT the Board accepts the items on the addendum. 

3) Adoption of Minutes of Previous Meeting Dated

Resolution 

THAT the minutes of the meeting dated September 22, 2015 be adopted as circulated; and 

4) Delegations/Presentations.

a) Accountability Agreements Indicators – Jonathon Bouma, Program Manager Environmental Health and

Communicable Disease Control and Jordan Robson, Epidemiologist

5) Business Arising from Minutes

All items arising from previous minutes are reported under the Governance Standing Committee report.

6) Reports to the Board

a) Acting Medical Officer of Health and Acting Chief Executive Officer

Resolution 
THAT the report of the Acting Medical Officer of Health and CEO for the month of October 

2015 be adopted as presented. 

b) Finance and Audit Committee

i) Financial Statements for the Period Ending: September 30, 2015

Resolution

THAT the financial reporting for the period ending September 30, 2015 be adopted as presented.

ii) 02-04-030 – Procurement Policy

Resolution

THAT the Board approves changes to policy 02-04-030 Procurement Policy as presented.

c) Governance Standing Committee

i) Bylaw 95-1 – To Regulate the Proceedings of the Board of Health – Revised

Resolution

THAT the Board approves the changes to Bylaw95-1 To Regulate the Proceedings of the Board

of Health as presented.

ii) 02-05-015 – Conflict of Interest

Resolution

THAT the Board approves changes to policy 02-05-015 Conflict of Interest as presented.

iii) 02-05-030 – Board Member Code of Conduct

Resolution

THAT the Board approves changes to policy 02-05-030 Board Member Code of Conduct as

presented.

 
 

3 of 134



Agenda 

Board of Health Meeting 

October 28, 2015 

Page 2 

iv) 02-05-060 – Meetings and Access to Information – New

Resolution

THAT the Board approves the new policy 02-05-060 Meetings and Access to Information as

presented.

7) New Business/General Business

a) Letter of Support for the Evacuation of First Nations Communities

b) External Audit Services

Resolution 

WHEREAS the Municipal Act, 2001 states that: 

Joint boards 

(10) If a local board is a local board of more than one municipality, only the auditor of the

municipality that is responsible for the largest share of the expenses of the local board in the

year is required to audit the local board in that year.  2009, c. 18, Sched. 18, s. 5.; and

WHEREAS the City of Sault Ste. Marie being the largest municipality in the Algoma District: 

and 

WHEREAS The City of Sault Ste. Marie passed Bylaw 2015-168 being a by-law to appoint the 

firm of KPMG LLP as municipal auditor to provide External Audit Services as required by the 

City of Sault Ste. Marie be passed in open Council this 28th day of September, 2015; 

THEREFORE be it resolved that the Board of Health for Algoma Public Health appoints KPMG 

LLP as their External Audit Service provider for the same period of time as the City of Sault Ste. 

Marie. 

8) Correspondence Items

a) Basic Income Guarantee - Letter to Ministers from Peterborough County-City Health Unit

b) Evacuation of First Nations Communities -  Letter to Premier Wynne from Peterborough County-City

Health Unit

c) Energy Drinks - Letter to Minister Hoskins from Peterborough County-City Health Unit

d) Enforcement of the Immunization of School Pupils’ Act (ISPA)

 Letter to Minister Hoskins from Peterborough County-City Health Unit

 Letter to Premier Wynne from Durham Region

e) Public Health Funding Model

 Letter to Minister Hoskins from Grey Bruce Health Unit

 Letter to Minister Hoskins from Porcupine Health Unit

 Email from alPHa

f) Healthy Babies Healthy Children - Letter to Premier Wynne from Durham Region

9) Items for Information

a) alPHa Meeting November 5, 2015

Managing Uncertainty: Risk Management Workshop for Ontario Boards of Health

b) Finance and Audit Committee Minutes - July 22, 2015 and September 17, 2015

c) Governance Standing Committee Minutes - August 26, 2015

10) Addendum

 
 

4 of 134



Agenda 

Board of Health Meeting 

October 28, 2015 

Page 3 

 

11) That The Board Go Into Committee 

Agenda Items: 

a) Adoption of previous in-committee minutes dated June 17, 2015 and August 6, 2015 

 12) That The Board Go Into Open Meeting 

 13) Resolution Resulting From In-Committee Session 

 14) Announcements: 

Next Board Meeting: 

November 25, 2015 

Sault Ste. Marie Room A&B, 1
st
 Floor, Algoma Public Health, Sault Ste. Marie 

 15) That The Meeting Adjourn 

 
 

5 of 134



 

ALGOMA PUBLIC HEALTH BOARD MEETING 

SEPTEMBER 22, 2015 

SAULT STE MARIE ROOM A&B 1
ST

 FLOOR, APH SAULT STE. MARIE 

MINUTES 
 

PRESENT: Ian Frazier Candace Martin Lee Mason Dennis Thompson 

     

TELECONF: Sue Jensen  

   

OFFICIALS 

PRESENT: 

Acting Medical Officer of Health Dr. Penny Sutcliffe 

Chief Executive Officer Tony Hanlon, Ph.D. 

 Chief Financial Officer Justin Pino 

 Director of Human Resources and Corporate Services Antoniette Tomie 

 Director of Community Services Laurie Zeppa 

 Director of Clinical Services Sherri Cleaves 

 Board Secretary Christina Luukkonen  

   

1) CALL TO ORDER  
Mr. Mason called the meeting to order at 5:01 pm. 

 

DECLARATION OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST  

Mr. Mason called for conflicts of interest; none were presented. 

 

2) ADOPTION OF AGENDA dated September 22, 2015   

2015-118 Moved: I. Frazier 

 Seconded: C. Martin 

 THAT the agenda items dated September 22, 2015 be adopted as circulated. 

 CARRIED. 

 

3) ADOPTION OF THE MINUTES  

2015-119 Moved: C. Martin 

 Seconded: D. Thompson 

 THAT the minutes of the Board of Health meeting dated June 17, 2015, be adopted as 

circulated; and 

 

THAT the minutes of the Special Meeting of the Board of Health dated June 29, 2015, 

be adopted as circulated; and  

 

THAT the minutes of the Special Meeting of the Board of Health dated August 6, 

2015, be adopted as circulated.  

 CARRIED. 

 

4) DELEGATIONS/PRESENTATIONS 

a) No presentations were presented. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

6 of 134



Minutes  

Board of Health 

September 22, 2015   

Page 2 

 

5) BUSINESS ARISING FROM MINUTES 

a) Governance Standing Committee Terms of Reference 

Final copy of the Governance Standing Committee Terms of Reference was presented to the Board for 

approval. A few minor changes were suggested. 

2015-120 Moved: I. Frazier 

 Seconded: C. Martin 

 THAT the Board of Health approves the Terms of Reference for the Governance 

Standing Committee as amended. 

 CARRIED. 

 

b) Algoma Public Health Performance Monitoring Plan 

Final copy of the Algoma Public Health Performance Monitoring Plan was presented to the Board for 

approval. 

2015-121 Moved: S. Jensen 

 Seconded: C. Martin 

 THAT the Board of Health approves the Algoma Public Health Performance 

Monitoring Plan as presented.  

 CARRIED. 

 

6) REPORTS OF COMMITTEES 

a) Finance and Audit Committee  

Mr. Frazier, Chair of the Finance and Audit Committee, provided a verbal report to the Board of Health. 

Budget completion is set for November 2015. On September 18, 2015 the Ministry held a teleconference 

with all health units, executive teams and board of health chairs to outline the changes in the new funding 

model. The new funding model will be population based. Based on the new funding formula only 8 health 

units in the province were approved for a 2% increase to their base budgets. The remaining 28 health units 

received a 0% increase to their base budgets. Algoma Public Health was among the 28 health units. There 

will be opportunities for one-time funding that we will are planning to apply for. Base funding for the next 

three years have been flat lined while our budget realigns with the new model. The complete report from the 

ministry was included in the addendum and was distributed to Board members prior to the start of the 

meeting. The Ministry will be conducting one-on-one teleconferences with each health units to discuss these 

changes. 

 

Dr. Sutcliffe informed the Board that this has not been well favoured by the 28 health units that have been 

flat lined. There is a need to advice on the needs of the community as well. 

 

b) Governance Standing Committee 

Mr. Frazier, Chair of the Governance Standing Committee, provided a verbal report to the Board of Health. 

The Committee met once over the summer. Going forward the Committee will be looking at the board 

matrix and what if any training is needed or available. There is an opportunity for the Board to participate in 

a community governance training hosted by the Children’s Rehabilitation Centre Algoma in October. More 

information on the workshop was provided to the Board members in the addendum its 11c). 

 

A survey to the Board members will be sent out to identify what they feel are the priority professional 

development needs.  

 

The province is in the process of hiring a consultant to assist in identifying what skill based board governance 

model they may be adopting and the related professional development needs for all public health boards. 
 
 

7 of 134



Minutes  

Board of Health 

September 22, 2015   

Page 3 

 

7) REPORTS OF OFFICERS/PROGRAM MANAGERS: 

a) Medical Officer of Health/Chief Executive Officer:   

Dr. Hanlon updated the Board on how things have been going since he started in the position on August 31, 

2015. Dr. Hanlon and Dr. Sutcliffe had the opportunity to meet with the City of Sault Ste. Marie Mayor 

Christian Provenzano and MPP David Orazietti. Dr. Hanlon also advised the Board members that he will be 

visiting each of the district offices in the next couple of weeks to meet with staff and will be arranging 

meetings with other mayors from the municipalities. 

 

Dr. Sutcliffe highlighted from the report the tobacco cessation initiative to reduce smoking rates by 5% in 5 

years in the district of Algoma that APH is developing. As well as the Healthy Kids Challenge the City of 

Sault Ste. Marie and Thessalon were awarded. 

 

Dr. Hanlon thanked the staff and the Board for their support during this transition period. 

 

Questions were answered to the satisfactory of the Board 

2015-122 Moved: D. Thompson 

 Seconded: I. Frazier 

  THAT the report of the Acting Medical Officer of Health and Chief Executive Officer 

for the month of September 2015 be adopted as presented. 

 CARRIED. 

   

b) Chief Financial Officer/Director of Operations:  

i) Financial Statements for the Period Ending: August 31, 2015 

Mr. Pino highlighted his report that was included in the Board package. The Finance and Audit committee 

reviewed the report at their meeting on September 18, 2015 and recommend it for approval. 

2015-123 Moved: C. Martin 

 Seconded: I. Frazier 

 THAT the financial reporting for the period ending August 31, 2015 be adopted as 

presented. 

 CARRIED. 

 

2015-124 Moved: I. Frazier 

 Seconded: D. Thompson 

 THAT the Board accepts the Algoma Public Health Financial Statements for the period 

ending August 31, 2015 for the following programs: 

Public Health Programs 

 Public Health 

 Public Health (Capital) 

Community Health Programs 

 Healthy Babies Healthy Children 

 HBHC Screening Liaisons 

 Child Benefits Ontario Works 

 Dental Benefits Ontario Works 

  Early Years Development (NP Clinic11) 

 Miscellaneous Calendar  

 Healthy Community Partnership 

 Northern Ontario Fruit and Vegetable Program 

 Brighter Futures for Children 
 
 

8 of 134



Minutes  

Board of Health 

September 22, 2015   

Page 4 

 

 Infant and Child Development 

 Preschool Speech and Language 

 Nurse Practitioner 

 Genetics Counselling 

 Community Mental Health 

 Community Alcohol and Drug Assessment 

 Remedial Measures 

 Diabetes 

 Miscellaneous Fiscal 

 CARRIED. 

   

2015-125 Moved: C. Martin 

 Seconded: D. Thompson 

 THAT the Board of Health approves the annual reconciliation for the Infant 

Development Program for the year ending March 31, 2015 as presented. 

 CARRIED. 

   

8) New Business/General Business 

a) Ontario Public Health Organizational Standards Compliance Checklist/Attestation 

The compliance checklist was shared with Board members that Algoma Public Health was required to 

complete for the Ministry. There are five items that we are not incompliance with but APH is currently 

working corrective actions. 

 

The Board requested the information that was submitted to the Ministry evidence for these incomplete items. 

This information will be made available for Board members via email before the next board meeting. 

 

b) Board Evaluation Summary 

A Summary of the monthly Board evaluations was provided to the Board in their Board package for their 

review. The yearly evaluation summary was emailed to Board members as it was missing in the Board 

packages. Copies will be provided for Board members at the next meeting in October. 

 

c) 02-05-010 – Board Minutes and Packages – Posting/Circulation/Retention 

Copies of the revised policy were provided in the Board package and changes were highlighted.  

2015-126 Moved: I. Frazier 

 Seconded: D. Thompson 

 THAT the Board of Health approves the changes to policy 02-05-010 Board Minutes 

and Packages – Posting/Circulation/Retention as presented. 

 CARRIED. 

 

d) 02-05-070 – In-Committee Material – Posting/Circulation/Retention 

Copies of the new policy were provided in the Board packages. Policy identifies our current practice. 

2015-127 Moved: C. Martin 

 Seconded: D. Thompson 

 THAT the Board accepts the changes to as presented. 

 CARRIED. 

 

 

 

 
 

9 of 134



Minutes  

Board of Health 

September 22, 2015   

Page 5 

 

e) Bylaw 95-1 – To Regulate the Proceedings of the Board of Health  

Board members were asked to review and send your comments or suggestions to Ms. Luukkonen. Feedback 

will be compiled and the Governance Committee will review at their next meeting and present the revised 

bylaw to the Board.  

 

Ms. Luukkonen will let everyone know once the date is set for the next Governance Meeting. 

 

f)  02-05-060 – Freedom of Information Policy 

Ms. Martin moved to defer the approval of the policy 02-05-060 – Freedom of Information. A briefing note 

will be provided at the October Board meeting explaining the purpose of the policy. 

2015-128 Moved: C. Martin 

 Seconded: D. Thompson 

 THAT the Board of Health defers the approval of Policy 02-05-060 Freedom of 

Information until the October 2015 Board meeting. 

 CARRIED. 

 

g) 02-05-030 – Board Member Code of Conduct 

The Governance Committee will be reviewing our current code of conduct policy. The Board is being asked 

to forward any suggestions to the Ms. Luukkonen. Ms. Luukkonen will compile the feedback for the 

Governance Committee to review and a final draft will be presented to the Board for approval in October. 

 

h) Healthy Babies Health Children Program 

Dr. Hanlon spoke to the briefing note provided in the Board package. A resolution is being presented to the 

Board to support a letter to the minister to advocate for improved funding for the program. 

2015-129 Moved: I. Frazier 

 Seconded: D. Thompson 

 WHEREAS the Healthy Babies Healthy Children (HBHC) program is a 100% funded 

Ministry of Child and Youth Services (MCYS) program provided by all 36 Ontario 

Boards of Health; and 

 

WHEREAS the HBHC goals are to promote optimal physical, cognitive, 

communicative and psychosocial development in children through effective prevention 

and early intervention services for families as well as to act as a catalyst for 

coordinated, effective, integrated system of services and supports for healthy child 

development and family well-being through partnership and collaboration with a 

network of services providers; and 

 

WHEREAS collective agreement settlements, travel costs, pay increments and 

accommodation costs have increased the costs of implementing the HBHC program, 

the management and administration costs of which are already offset by the cost-shared 

budget for provincially mandated programs; and 

 

WHEREAS Algoma Public Health has not received a budget increase in the Healthy 

Babies Healthy Children (HBHC) Program since 2008; and 

 

WHEREAS the HBHC program has made every effort to mitigate the outcome of the 

funding shortfall, this has becoming increasingly more challenging and will result in 

the discontinuation of weekend services in the HBHC program. 

 
 

10 of 134



Minutes  

Board of Health 

September 22, 2015   

Page 6 

 

THEREFOR BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Algoma District Board of Health supports 

a letter to the Minister of Children and Youth Services to advocate to fully fund all 

program costs related to the HBHC Program; and  

 

FURTHER THAT this motion be forwarded to the Association of Local Public Health 

Agencies, the Chief Medical Officer of Health and all Ontario Boards of Health. 

 CARRIED. 

 

i)  Public Health Support for a Basic Income Guarantee 

Dr. Hanlon spoke to the briefing note provided in the Board Package. A resolution is being presented to the 

Board to endorse the concept of a basic income guarantee. 

 

Questions were raised by Board members and the Board inquired if there are any reports or resources that 

could be reviewed that support this strategy. 

 

Dr. Sutcliffe informed the Board that there is support from the Association of Local Public Health Agencies 

and the Canadian Medical Association. 

 

Ms. Zeppa spoke to the work that the Health Equity nurses have been working on. 

 

There was no mover for a resolution. 

 

j)  Call to Action – Reducing Smoking Rates in the District of Algoma 

Dr. Hanlon and Ms. Zeppa spoke to the briefing note provided in the Board package.  

2015-130 Moved: C. Martin 

 Seconded: D. Thompson 

 WHEREAS Algoma Public Health is committed to preventing disease and promoting 

the health of individuals and communities in the Algoma District; and 

 

WHEREAS the incidence of lung and bronchus cancer for the district of Algoma is 

significantly higher than that of the province of Ontario; and 

 

WHEREAS the 2011-2012 cycle of the Canadian Community Health Survey, 

identifies current smokers, age 12 or older who have smoked at least 100 cigarettes in 

their lifetime and have smoked in the past 30 days, as 23.6% in Algoma compared to 

17.8% for Ontario; and 

 

WHEREAS supporting a call to action to reduce smoking rates by 5% in 5years will 

bring Algoma’s smoking rates more in line with the provincial average and help to 

reduce health inequities in the prevention of cancer; and 

 

WHEREAS a collaboration with key partners and municipalities to address the 

smoking rate will promote a systems approach to ensuring access of all residents of 

Algoma to quit smoking assistance and support a collective impact on reducing 

smoking rates in Algoma; and 

 

WHEREAS continued efforts to prevent youth from starting to smoke remains vital, 

the proposed 5% reduction in smoking rates over five years can only be achieved by 

 
 

11 of 134



Minutes  

Board of Health 

September 22, 2015   

Page 7 

 

significantly increasing the successful quit attempts among people who currently 

smoke; and 

 

WHEREAS Algoma has the potential to become Ontario’s “cessation innovation 

accelerator” where new ideas emerging from stakeholders and from research evidence 

are tested to meet the challenging goal of reducing smoking rates for Algoma and the 

Province.  

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Board of Health of Algoma endorses the 

concept of a district-wide goal to reduce smoking rates by 5% over the next 5years; 

and  

 

FURTHER THAT in keeping with APH’s endorsement of a district-wide goal, 

supports the development of a strategy that engages community partners including 

those from health care, education, and the private sector to support the implementation 

of  a 5 year smoking reduction plan across the district; and 

FURTHER THAT Algoma Public Health supports the development of an internal and 

external branded communication strategy directed at smokers to make quit smoking 

attempts; and 

 

FURTHER THAT the Board of Health of Algoma endorses a proposal submission in 

partnership with the Ontario Tobacco Research Unit to the Ministry of Health to fund a 

5 year smoking reduction strategy; and 

 

FURTHER THAT APH requests municipalities and townships across Algoma to 

support a district-wide strategy by passing resolutions that support a call to action to 

reduce smoking rates by 5% over the next 5years. 

 CARRIED. 

 

k) Prenatal Postnatal Nurse Practitioner Program 

A revised briefing note was distributed to the Board members at the beginning of the meeting. Dr. Hanlon 

and Ms. Zeppa spoke to this briefing note. At one time there was a need for the Nurse Practitioner Program 

at Algoma Public Health. The position has been vacant for over a year now and the community need has 

declined. 

 

Questions were raised on the impact to Algoma Public Health with the loss of position. Dr. Hanlon 

explained that the position is currently vacant so there is not staffing impact. 

 

2015-131 Moved: D. Thompson 

 Seconded: I. Frazier 

 WHEREAS Algoma Public Health has been operating since June 2014 in the absence 

of a Prenatal and Postnatal Nurse Practitioner program. 

 

WHEREAS indicators show no recent growth in the number of unique clients, new 

clients and client visits. Additionally, survey results of Algoma Public Health clients 

suggest over 80% of pregnant women and women with children under the age of 5 

have primary health care coverage. 

 

 
 

12 of 134



Minutes  

Board of Health 

September 22, 2015   

Page 8 

 

WHEREAS key stakeholders and residents of Sault Ste. Marie have not expressed a 

community need for this program at Algoma Public Health. 

 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that Algoma Public Health recommends the 

withdrawal of the Prenatal and Postnatal Nurse Practitioner program from Sault Ste. 

Marie services.    

 CARRIED. 

 

9) CORRESPONDENCE/ITEMS FOR INFORMATION:   

a) Letter to Hon. Wynne from Perth District Health Unit Re: Health and Physical Education Curriculum 

b) Letter to Hon. MacCharles from Sudbury & District Health Unit Re: Healthy Babies Healthy 

Children Program 

c) Letter to Hon MacCharles from Grey Bruce Health Unit Re: Healthy Babies Healthy Children 

Program 

d) Letter to Hon. Hoskins from Sudbury & District Health Unit Re: Enforcement of the Immunization 

of School Pupils’ Act 

e) Letter to Hon. Wynne from Sudbury & District Health Unit Re: Northern Ontario Evacuations of 

First Nations Communities 

f) Letter to Hon. Wynne from Grey Bruce Health Unit Re: Northern Ontario Evacuation of First 

Nations Communities  

g) Letter to Hon. Harper from Durham Region Re: National Alcohol Strategy Advisory Committee 

h) Letter to Hon. Hoskins from Ontario Physicians Re: Basic Income Guarantee for Ontario 

i) Letter to Mr. MacLean, Town of Thessalon from Dr. Hoskins Re: In Support of APH resolution to 

maintain preventive oral health services 

j) Letter to Hon. Hoskins from Grey Bruce Health Unit Re: Smoke Free Multi-Unit Housing 

 

10) ITEMS FOR INFORMATION 

a) Association of Local Public Health Agencies (alPHa) News Release – June 19, 2015 

b) Memo from Chief Medical Officer of Health - Amendments to Food Safety Protocol 

c) Memo from Chief Medical Officer of Health – Amendments to the Emergency Preparedness 

Protocol  

d) Grey Bruce Resolution on Bruce Grey Food Charter  

e) New Integrated Dental Program Update 

f) Thank you Card from Sandra Laclé 

 

11) ADDENDUM:   

2015-132 Moved: I. Frazier 

 Seconded: C. Martin 

 THAT the Board accepts the items on the addendum.  

11) Addendum 

a) Provincial Public Health Funding 

b) Electronic Means of Participation of Local Boards 

c) Board Development Workshop – October 24, 2015 

d) d) Board of Health Orientation Manual Updates – Items for replacement in 

Orientation Binder 

 CARRIED. 

 

 

 
 

13 of 134



Minutes  

Board of Health 

September 22, 2015   

Page 9 

 

a) Provincial Public Health Funding 

Documents were distributed to Board members for their review. This is an ongoing discussion with the 

ministry. 

 Letter from the Minister of Health and Long-Term Care to Algoma Public Health Board of 

Health Chair dated September 4, 2015 

 Memo: Update on Public Health Funding Review dated September 4, 2015 

 Final Report of the Funding Review Working Group dated December 2013 

 Appendix 1 – Funding Review Working Group Field Input Responses 

b) Electronic Means of Participation of Local Boards 

Dr. Sutcliffe spoke to the letter received from Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph Public Health to the Ministry 

regarding participating by electronic means at local board meetings.  Being shared as information there is no 

change in our practice. There is a difference in interpretation of the Act. 

 Letter to the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing from Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph 

Public Health dated September 10, 2015. 

 Letter to Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph Medical Officer of Health from the Interim Chief 

Medical Officer of Health dated June 30, 2015 

 Resolution from Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph BoH Meeting September 9, 2015 

 

c) Board Development Workshop – October 24, 2015 

Hosted by The Children’s Rehabilitation Centre Algoma Board of Directors 

Background was provided to the Board on the upcoming Board workshop in October. If any Board members 

are interested in attending please let Ms. Luukkonen know by Thursday, September 24, 2015.  

 

d) Board of Health Orientation Manual Updates – For replacement in Orientation Binder. 

 02-05-065 – Algoma Board of Health Reserve Fund 

 Bylaw 95-2 – To Provide for Banking and Finance  

 Bylaw 95-3 – To Provide for the Duties of the Auditor of the Board of Health  

 Bylaw 2015-1 – To Provide for the Management of Property  

 2015 alPHa Orientation Manual for Board of Health 

Copies of revised policies and bylaws that were previously approved were provided to Board members to 

replace in their Board Orientation and Reference Manual. 

 

12) THAT THE BOARD GO INTO COMMITTEE: 6:30pm 

Agenda items: 

a) Adoption of In-Committee minutes dated September 22, 2015 

2015-33 Moved: I. Frazier 

 Seconded: C. Martin 

 THAT the Board goes into committee. 

 CARRIED. 

 

13) THAT THE BOARD GO INTO OPEN MEETING @ 6:51pm 

2015-135 Moved: I. Frazier 

 Seconded: D. Thompson 

 THAT the Board goes into open meeting. 

 CARRIED. 

 

 

 
 

14 of 134



Minutes  

Board of Health 

September 22, 2015   

Page 10 

 

14) Resolution Resulting From In-Committee Session 

There were no resolutions resulting from In-Committee Session to be passed in open meeting. 

 

15) ANNOUNCEMENTS: 
Next Board Meeting: To be Announced  

 

16) THAT THE MEETING ADJOURN: 6:56 pm 

2015-136 Moved: I. Frazier 

 Seconded: S. Jensen 

 THAT the meeting adjourns. 

 CARRIED. 

 
 

 

 

 __________________________________________   __________________________________________  

  Lee Mason, Chair    Christina Luukkonen, Secretary 

 

 

 __________________________________________   __________________________________________  

 Date Date 

 
 

15 of 134



Accountability Agreement Indicators 

Overview and look at 
most recent performance 

 

 
 

16 of 134



Performance Measurement 

• Performance management principles and techniques are 
widely accepted as management best practice.  

• Performance management involves establishing goals, 
monitoring progress, and making adjustments to achieve 
desired outcomes. 

• Intended to capture, report on, and respond to the 
performance of boards of health and health units and the 
public health system 

 

 
 

17 of 134



What is an Indicator? 

• Indicators are succinct measures that aim to describe 
as much about a system as possible in as few points as 
possible. 

• Indicators help us understand a system, compare it 
and improve it. 

 

 
 

18 of 134



Use of Indicators 

• Currently used by health units to: 
 To support local program management and manage service 
 delivery; determined at the BOH level. 
 To inform surveillance activities and policy development; 
  
• Provincial uses within performance management system: 
 Public reporting 
 Accountability agreements 
 Monitoring/risk assessment 
 
• The same indicators may be used for multiple purposes. 
 

 
 

19 of 134



Accountability Agreements  

• The Public Health Accountability Agreement (AA) is built on 
performance management principles accepted as management best 
practice 

• Accountability Agreements between BOH and the MOHLTC were 
introduced in 2011 

• Was initially set for a 3 year term from 2011-2013, renewed for 
2014-2016 

• Set of indicators are common across all BOH in the province 

 

 
 

20 of 134



Structure 

• Indicators in place from 2014-2016 after which new 
indicators may be added or considered. 

• In the 1st year of an indicator, baselines are established 
for each for each board of health.  

• In the subsequent years, targets for performance 
improvement will be established in consultation with 
each board of health, relative to its baseline level of 
achievement. 

• Health units, for each indicator, can either propose a 
target, respond to a ministry proposed target or confirm 
a previously established target, depending on the 
indicator. 

 

 
 

21 of 134



Indicator Types 

• Performance indicators: annual targets for 
achievement. 

• Monitoring indicators: do not have targets and 
performance is reviewed internally by the ministry to 
ensure expectations are met. 

• Long-term indicators: measure population level 

outcomes when data becomes available. 

 
 

22 of 134



Recent Indicator Performance 

 
 

23 of 134



Indicators we are meeting 

• 1.4 % of tobacco vendors in compliance with youth access legislation 
at the time of the last inspection 

• 1.6 % tobacco retailers inspected for compliance with section 3 of the 
Smoke-Free Ontario Act (SFOA) - Seasonal 

• 1.9 Implementation of NutriSTEP Preschool Screen 

• 1.10 Baby-Friendly Initiative (BFI) Status 

• 2.3 % of Class A pools inspected while in operation 

• 4.2 % of influenza vaccine wasted that is stored/administered by the 
public health unit 

• 4.3 % of refrigerators storing publically funded vaccines that have 
received a completed routine annual cold chain inspection. 

 
 

24 of 134



Indicators we are working towards meeting 

• 1.6 % tobacco retailers inspected for compliance with section 3 of the 
Smoke-Free Ontario Act (SFOA) – Non-seasonal 

• 1.8 Oral health Assessment and Surveillance: % of schools screened and % 
of all JK, SK and Grade 2 students screened in all publically funded schools 

• 2.1 % of high-risk food premises inspected once every 4 months while in 
operation (2015 monitoring) 

• 2.2 % of moderate-risk food premises inspected once every 6 months while 
in operation (2015 monitoring) 

• 2.4 % of high-risk Small Drinking Water Systems (SWDS) inspections 
completed for those that are due for re-inspection  

• 3.1 % of personal services settings inspected annually (2015 monitoring) 

• 4.1 % of HPV vaccine wasted that is stored/administered by the public 
health unit 

 
 

25 of 134



Common challenges for meeting targets 

• Business owner availability 

• Weather for travel to some inspection sites 

• Staffing shortages – short and long term 

• Data entry issues 

• Cooperation of external agencies/partners 

• Unrealistic targets given nature of APH’s region 

 

 

 
 
 

26 of 134



Indicators being monitoring  

• 2.5 % of public spas inspected while in operation (2015 monitoring) 

• 3.2 % of suspected rabies exposures reported with investigation initiated within one 
day of public health unit notification (2015 100% target) 

• 3.3 % of confirmed gonorrhea cases where initiation of follow-up occurred within two 
business days (2015 monitoring) 

• 3.4 % of confirmed iGAS cases where initiation of follow-up occurred on the same day 
as receipt of lab confirmation of a positive case (2015 monitoring) 

• 3.5 % of salmonellosis cases where one or more risk factor(s) other than “Unknown” 
was entered into iPHIS (2015 90% target) 

• 4.4 % of school-aged children who have completed immunizations for hepatitis B 
(2015 monitoring) 

• 4.5 % of school-aged children who have completed immunizations for HPV (2015 
monitoring) 

• 4.6 % of school-aged children who have completed immunizations for meningococcus 
(2015 monitoring) 

 
 

27 of 134



Thank You 

 

• Additional details can be found on the MOHLTC 
website at 
http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/
publichealth/performance/ 

• Attached Appendix A lists all the Accountability 
Agreements for your reference. 

 

Questions? 

 
 

28 of 134

http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/performance/
http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/performance/


Appendix A – Indicator List with Performance 
 
1.1 % of population (19+) that exceeds the Low-Risk Alcohol Drinking Guidelines 

• Not currently monitored; considered as long term indicators 
 
1.2 Fall-related emergency visits in older adults aged 65+ 

• Not currently monitored; considered as long-term indicators 
 
1.3 % of youth (ages 12-18) who have never smoked a whole cigarette 

• Not currently monitored; considered as long term indicators 
 
1.4 % of tobacco vendors in compliance with youth access legislation at the time of last inspection 

• 2015 Mid-Year 93/96 – 96.9%  
• Target >=90% 

 
1.5 % of secondary schools inspected once per year for compliance with section 10 of the Smoke-Free 
Ontario Act (SFOA) 

• 2015 year-end target = 100% 
 
1.6 % tobacco retailers inspected for compliance with section 3 of the Smoke-Free Ontario Act (SFOA) 

• 2014 Year End  
– Non-seasonal 96.2% Target 100% 
– Seasonal 100% Target 100% 

• 2015 Year End Targets 100% 
 
1.7 % tobacco retailers inspected for compliance with display, handling and promotion sections of the 
Smoke-Free Ontario Act (SFOA) 

• 2014 Year End 100% Target 100% 
• 2015 Year End Target 100% 

 
1.8 Oral health Assessment and Surveillance 

• % of schools screened 
– July 1 2014 – June 30 2015 49/50 98% Target 100% 

• % of all JK, SK and Grade 2 students screened in all publically funded schools  
– July 1 2014 – June 30 2015 2675/2809 95.2% Target 100%  

 
1.9 Implementation status of NutriSTEP Preschool Screen 

• 2015 Mid-Year – Preliminary stage 
• 2015 Year End Target – Intermediate stage 

 
1.10 Baby-Friendly Initiative (BFI) Status 

• 2015 Mid-Year – Designated 
• 2015 Year End - Designated 

 
2.1 % of high-risk food premises inspected once every 4 months while in operation 

• 2014 Year End (Target 100%) 
– 168/183 91.8%  
– Performance Report 

• 2015 Year End Monitoring 
 
 

 
 

29 of 134



2.2 % of moderate-risk food premises inspected once every 6 months while in operation 
• 2014 Year End (Target 98.4%) 

– 160/180 88.9% 
– Performance Report 

• 2015 Year End Monitoring 
 
2.3 % of Class A pools inspected while in operation 

• 2014 Year End (Target 100%) 
– 7/7 100% 

• 2015 Year End Target 100% 
 
2.4 % of high-risk Small Drinking Water Systems (SDWS) inspections completed for those that are due for 
re-inspection 

• 2014 Year End (Target 85%) 
– 29/35 82.9% 
– Performance Report 

• 2015 Year End Target 90% 
 
2.5 % public spas inspected while in operation 

• 2014 Year End (Target 100%) 
– 15/15 100% 

• 2015 Year End Monitoring 
 
3.1 % of personal services settings inspected annually 

• 2014 Year End (Target 86.1%) 
– 113/141 80.1% 
– Performance Report 

• 2015 Year End Monitoring 
 
3.2 % of suspected rabies exposures reported with investigation initiated within one day of public health 
unit notification 

• 2014 Year End (Target 100%) 
– 193/193 100% 

• 2015 Year End Target 100% 
 
3.3 % of confirmed gonorrhea cases where initiation of follow-up occurred within two business days 

• 2014 Year End (No Target) 
– 27/28 96.4% 

• 2015 Year End Monitoring 
 
3.4 % of confirmed IGAS cases where initiation of follow-up occurred on the same day as receipt of lab 
confirmation of a positive case 

• 2014 Year End (Target 100%) 
– 168/183 91.8% 
– Performance Report 

• 2015 Year End Monitoring 
 
3.5 % of salmonellosis cases where one or more risk factor(s) other than “Unknown” was entered into iPHIS 

• 2014 Year End  
– 10/15 66.7% Baseline 

• 2015 Year End 90% Target 

 
 

30 of 134



3.6 % of confirmed gonorrhea cases treated according to the recommended Ontario treatment guidelines 
• 2015 Year End Baseline 

 
4.1 % of HPV vaccine wasted that is stored/administered by the public health unit 

• September 1st 2014 – August 31st 2015 (Target 0.3%) 
– 0.6% 

 
4.2 % of influenza vaccine wasted that is stored/administered by the public health unit 

• September 1st 2014 – August 31st 2015 (Target 2.3%) 
– 2.0% 

 
4.3 % of refrigerators storing publically funded vaccines that have received a completed routine annual cold 
chain inspection 

• 2014 Year End (Target 100%) 
– 115/115 100% 

• 2015 Year End Target 100% 
 
4.4 % of school-aged children who have completed immunizations for hepatitis B 

• 2013-2014  
– 795/1044 76.1% 
– Monitoring 

• 2014-2015 
– 724/980 73.9% 
– Monitoring 

 
4.5 % of school-aged children who have completed immunizations for HPV 

• 2013-2014  
– 283/498 56.8% 
– Monitoring 

• 2014-2015 
– 285/493 57.8% 
– Monitoring 

 
4.6 % of school-aged children who have completed immunizations for meningococcus 

• 2013-2014  
– 868/1041 83.4% 
– Monitoring 

• 2014-2015 
– 820/980 83.7% 
– Monitoring 

 

 
 

31 of 134



 
 
 
 

MEDICAL OFFICER OF HEALTH/CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
BOARD REPORT 
October 2015 
 
Prepared by Tony Hanlon Ph.D., CEO and Dr. Penny Sutcliffe, Acting MOH 
 
 
 
 
 
  

6a) Attachment 

 
 

32 of 134



Medical Officer of Health and Chief Executive Officer 
Board Report 
October 2015 
Page 2 of 8 
 

 
 

2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Table of Contents 
  

Summary/Introduction Page 3 

Program Highlights Page 4-5 

Risk Management Page 6-7 

Partnerships Page 8 

Next Steps Page 8 

 
 
  

 
 

33 of 134



Medical Officer of Health and Chief Executive Officer 
Board Report 
October 2015 
Page 3 of 8 
 

 
 

3 

 
 

 
T.Hanlon along with Directors Cleaves and Zeppa visited the Elliott Lake office September 25, Wawa 
office September 28 and Blind River office October 15. He chaired an introductory session at each office 
to get to know staff and hear directly from them about program and service delivery in the Elliott Lake, 
Blind River & Wawa catchment areas.  
 
The Elliott Lake staff were updated on plans for the new office location and are looking forward to 
relocation in the new year.  
 
The staff at all three offices were also given a high level overview of the new MOHLTC funding model for 
PHUs. 
 
T. Hanlon also held separate meetings with Mayor Dan Marchisella and MPP Michael Mantha on 
September 25. Both gentlemen made positive remarks about APH programs and services. He updated 
both on MOHLTC new funding model. He also met with Mayor Rody in Wawa who was also very 
appreciative of the work of APH staff. 
 
Flu clinics started in Sault Ste. Marie on October 13 and on October 19. In the first week of flu clinic 

operations (October 13-19th) in SSM and district offices, APH provided 1320 flu immunizations at onsite 

and outreach clinics.  Our Wawa office scheduled their first flu clinic at the Community Centre on 

Election Day (October 19th).  This model of clinic delivery was successful as it was convenient for clients 

that were at the Community Centre to vote, and also for families that were bringing their children to 

various activities.   

 

  

SUMMARY/INTRODUCTION 

 
 

34 of 134



Medical Officer of Health and Chief Executive Officer 
Board Report 
October 2015 
Page 4 of 8 
 

 
 

4 

PROGRAM HIGHLIGHTS 
 
COMMUNITY MENTAL HEALTH 
 
Topic: Program Update 
 
This report addresses the following requirements of the Ontario Public Health Standards   (2014) or 
Program Guidelines/ Deliverables: NELHIN & MOHLTC Mental Health &Addiction Accountability 
Agreement(s) 2014-17: Deliverables. 
 
This report addresses the following Strategic Directions: Accountability 
 
Accountability 
The Community Mental Health Program provides Psychiatric Case Management Programing (Intensive 
Case Management; Community Treatment Order Case Management and Transitional Case 
Management) throughout the Algoma District for individuals living with serious mental illness through a 
NELHIN funding agreement. 
  
The NELHIN Accountability Agreement: Targets 2014/15  

Deliverable LHIN Target  Q2 Report 

Individuals served by Functional 
Center: 

1040 575  

Total Visits: 12,830 5,594 

 
Program data for these targets are reported quarterly. This data indicates we are on track to meet our 
yearly LHIN target of accountability. 
 
The program has extended the CMHP hours of operation in SSM until 8pm- Monday-Friday & 10am -
6pm weekend(s) through expansion of our “Transitional Case Management Program“. This new initiative 
has added to our local continuum of available case management resources.  
 
In addition, the program delivers a Rent Supplement Administration and Supports within Housing 
Program, through a MOHLTC corporate funding agreement. 
 
The MOHLTC Funding Agreement 2014/15:  Administration of $286,000 in mental health and addiction 
rent supplement(s). 
Apr. 1/15 – October 1/15  

 
 
 
 

The Program also continues to work with other Algoma Public Health programs and many community 
partners on broader social housing initiatives throughout the district. In April of this year, CMHP entered 
into partnership with Sault Ste. Marie Housing Corporation, one CMHP case manager has been aligned 

Mental Health  Addiction 

116 14 

 
 

35 of 134



Medical Officer of Health and Chief Executive Officer 
Board Report 
October 2015 
Page 5 of 8 
 

 
 

5 

full time for up to one year to provide mental health and addiction supports within the corporations 
many housing initiatives including emergency shelters.  
 
 

HEALTHY BABIES HEALTHY CHILDREN 
 
Topic: Doodooshaaboo 
 
This report addresses the following requirements of the Ontario Public Health Standards (2014) or 
Program Guidelines/ Deliverables: Family Health Program Standards, Child Health; Health Promotion 
and Policy Development; Breastfeeding 
 
This report addresses the following Strategic Directions:  Health Equity and Collaboration 
 
Algoma Public Health and Maamwesying North Shore Community Health Services Incorporated were 
successful applicants to a grant offered by Best Start Health Nexus.  The purpose of the grant was to 
fund a project that would support “Populations with Lower Breastfeeding Rates.” 
 
Algoma Public Health with Maamwesying North Shore Community Health Services developed a 
breastfeeding awareness campaign, Doodooshaaboo, it takes a community to breastfeed.  
Doodooshaaboo is an Anishinaabe word meaning breast milk.  The goal of the Doodooshaaboo 
campaign is to ensure that mothers and their families have access to the best supports and resources in 
their communities.   
 
The campaign includes 14 life-sized photographs of local mother’s breastfeeding to encourage and 
promote community support. A local directory and magnets for families to have easy access to contact 
information was developed.  The directory includes contact information for cultural workers and 
traditional health.   
 
The campaign will be featured at the Sault Ste. Marie Indian Friendship Centre, the Baawaating Family 
Health Team, Batchewana First Nation, Garden River First Nation, Thessalon First Nation, Mississauga 
First Nation, Serpent River First Nation, Sagamok First Nation and Atikameksheng First Nation. 
 
The campaign launch dates were October 1, 2015 at Garden River Wellness Centre, October 6, 2015 at 
Non Dway Gamig ‘Healing Place,’ Batchewana First Nation, and October 7, 2015 at Sault Ste. Marie 
Indian Friendship Centre. This launch coincided with National Breastfeeding Week October 1-7 2015.  
Algoma Public Health has since been invited to showcase this partnership project at the preconference 
event during the Best Start Annual Conference in Toronto in 2016.   
 
The Doodooshaaboo project embraces our strategic directions, values and guiding principles, and is in 
alignment with the resolution passed on June 17th, 2015 to continue conversation and dialogue with the 
Indigenous Communities in the Algoma District to support further relationship building. 

 

 

 
 

36 of 134



Medical Officer of Health and Chief Executive Officer 
Board Report 
October 2015 
Page 6 of 8 
 

 
 

6 

 
COMMUNICABLE DISEASE CONTROL 
 
Topic: Infectious Diseases/Environmental Health 
 
This report addresses the following requirements of the Ontario Public Health Standards (2014)  
Requirement #8 The board of health shall provide public health management of cases and outbreaks to 
minimize the public health risk in accordance with the Infectious Diseases Protocol, 2008(or as current); 
the Institutional/Facility Outbreak Prevention and Control Protocol, 2008(or as current); and provincial 
and national protocols on best practices.  
 
This report addresses the following strategic directions: Collaborate Effectively 
 

Risk 

Although to date the outbreaks have been colonizations rather than infections, 
there is always a risk of this balance changing within the hospital.  Community-
wide there is a significant amount of transfer within and without of the SAH.  
Several Long Term Care Homes now have substantial MRSA cases attributable to 
the SAH therefore efforts at minimizing spread of both community and hospital 
transmissions are worthwhile. This outbreak along with many others within a year 
adds extra workload on the Infection Prevention and Control inspection team. 

Recommendations 

 

Algoma Public Health (APH) shall continue to support Sault Area Hospital (SAH) 
and by extension its community healthcare partners and public with outbreak 
management of antibiotic resistant organisms such as Methicillin-Resistant Staph 
Aureus (MRSA). The SAH and APH work jointly to lessen the transmission of such 
organisms and are exploring strategies with the outbreak team to improve 
environmental cleaning. 

Key Points 
A MRSA outbreak was declared at SAH on Aug 21, and a second declared on Sept 
9. A public health inspector and manager have been meeting regularly with the 
OB team to provide guidance and support the control efforts. 

Analysis 

 

Antibiotic-resistant organisms are difficult to control in a highly variable hospital 
environment. A dedicated focus on hand hygiene and environmental cleaning is 
crucial in MRSA outbreak control. 

Action 

 

APH’s inspection team will continue to support the efforts of the greater outbreak 
team at the SAH and provide advice, consultation and support to reduce 
transmission of the bacteria and lessen the opportunity of an infection occurring 
due to MRSA. 

Financial Implications 
None, Time for inspections is decreased during the outbreak seasons and even 
more during antibiotic resistant strains of microorganisms are involved. 

Staffing  
Implications 

Increased focus on outbreak management necessitates re-distribution of 
workload in other areas which affects other program standards and MOHLTC 
Accountability Agreements. 

RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
 

37 of 134



Medical Officer of Health and Chief Executive Officer 
Board Report 
October 2015 
Page 7 of 8 
 

 
 

7 

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH 
 
Topic: Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) regarding Boil Water Advisories (BWO)/ Drinking Water 
Advisories (DWA) & Municipalities 
 
This report addresses the following requirements of the Ontario Public Health Standards (2014) or 
Program Guidelines/ Deliverables: Requirement # 10. 
The board of health shall ensure that the medical officer of health or designate is available on a 24/7 
basis to receive reports of and respond to: Adverse events related to safe water, such as reports of 
adverse drinking water on drinking-water systems governed under the Health Protection and Promotion 
Act or the Safe Drinking Water Act; 
 
This report addresses the following strategic directions: Collaborate Effectively 

 

Risk Municipalities deal with broken water lines and repairs regularly. APH works 
with the municipalities to ensure the safety of the patrons during these repairs. 
This is addressed by issuing a BWA or DWA to the affected houses/ businesses 
during this time. Due to chain of command notification process, it can range in 
the response time when notifying the patrons of the potential risks associated 
with these repairs (i.e. chemical / bacteriological in nature).  

Recommendations APH & municipalities have a MOU in place that provides the BWA and DWA 
templates to the municipalities to expedite the notification process which will 
reduce the risk of the patrons drinking potentially contaminated water. These 
MOU have been in place for most municipalities for several years for issuing of 
BWA for these events and we recommend maintaining this process with all 
municipalities and Small Drinking Water Operators. 

Key Points Water line breaks & repairs, loss of pressure and leaks are common within 
municipalities. 

Analysis Chain of command notification is important. 

Action Notifying patrons of risks associated with repairs is vital. 

Financial Implications MOU in place and templates provided to municipalities will speed the 
notification process up and reduce the potential risks associated with patrons 
consuming contaminated water during breaks and repairs. 

Staffing Implications Although a process is already in place to deal with water main breaks and 
repairs, this tool will speed the notification process up and reduce the risks 
associated with patrons drinking potentially contaminated water. This will save 
time, which will save money. 

 
  

 
 

38 of 134



Medical Officer of Health and Chief Executive Officer 
Board Report 
October 2015 
Page 8 of 8 
 

 
 

8 

 
 
Public Health Ontario 
APH has teamed with Public Health Ontario (PHO) to submit a joint application to The Ontario Public 
Health Convention (TOPHC) in April 2016 to present and discuss the work we have done with them and 
the Ministry of the Environment and Energy around the Soil and Air Studies surrounding Essar Steel. 
Over several years APH has been working with assessing public health threats from Benzo-a-Pyrene in 
soil samples and particulates –Polyareomatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs) in air near the Essar Steel Plant in the 
Bayview Area. APH also sits on the Community Advisory council of Essar Steel to aid in the continuing 
monitoring and decreasing of emissions from the plant. 
 
 

St. Joseph’s Hospital in Elliot Lake  
On September 24, 2015 the Health Equity Public Health Nurses (PHN’s) delivered a presentation to the Senior 

Management Team at the Elliot Lake St. Joseph’s hospital, entitled “Advancing Health Equity in the Health Care 

System”. The presentation covered the social determinants of health and introduced the concept of health equity, 

with the intention of supporting the hospital in applying a health equity lens to decision making and planning 

patient care. Relevant local data related to the social determinants of health and the impacts on health was shared 

to enhance the understanding about “what makes people ill and what keeps people well”.  Providing consultation 

and support to community partners regarding health equity is one of the objectives in the PHN’s health equity 

work plan. Follow-up with St Joseph’s hospital is planned to review the presentation evaluation results and 

determine need for further consultation. 

 
 

NEXT STEPS 

 
T. Hanlon and J. Pino will be presenting at the upcoming alPHa workshop on November 5, 2015 in 
Toronto. This year’s topic is Managing Uncertainty. 
 
The new office location in Elliot Lake is progressing. Tenders for the interior construction have been 
received and the Finance and Audit Committee will be awarding the contract soon. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Tony Hanon, Ph.D., CEO and Dr. Penny Sutcliffe, Acting MOH 
 

PARTNERSHIPS 

 
 

39 of 134



 
 

40 of 134

christina_luukkonen
Typewritten Text
6b-i) Attachment



 
 

41 of 134



 
 

42 of 134



 
 

43 of 134



 
 

44 of 134



 
 

45 of 134



 
 

46 of 134



 
 

47 of 134



1 

 

Algoma Public Health – GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE – Policies and Procedures Manual 
 
APPROVED BY: Board of Health REFERENCE #: 02-04-030 
    
DATE: O: February 13, 1996 SECTION: Board Policy 
 Revised:  May 28, 2015 

Revised: October 28, 2015 
  

    
PAGE: 1 of 13 SUBJECT: Procurement Policy 
    

 

1.0 PURPOSE 
 

The purpose of this policy is: 
 

a) To ensure that the Board of Health for the District of Algoma Health Unit (the Board) 
utilizes fair, reasonable and efficient methods to procure quality goods and services 
required to execute the Board’s programs and services.   

 
b) To ensure Algoma Public Health (APH) aims to be accountable and transparent when 

procuring goods and services while safeguarding the assets of the agency.   
 
c) To protect the financial interest of APH while meeting the needs of its programs and 

services it offers within the District of Algoma.   
 
d) To promote and ensure the integrity of the procurement process and to ensure the 

necessary controls are present for a public institution. 
 
 

2.0 POLICY ACCOUNTABILITY AND RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

The Board of Health for the District of Algoma Health Unit is accountable to ensure that 
Algoma Public Health uses fair, reasonable and efficient methods to procure quality goods and 
services required to execute the Board’s programs and services.  The Board delegates 
responsibility to Algoma Public Health staff as outlined below: 
 
Medical Officer of Health/CEO 
 

a) Ensures the Executive Team is aware of and follows the Procurement policy 
 

b) Ensures that an adequate system of internal controls is in place related to APH 
Procurement policy 

 
c) Ensures changes to the Procurement Policy are implemented  
 
d) Report to the Board on any liability incurred as a result of the policy not being followed 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

48 of 134

christina_luukkonen
Typewritten Text
6b - ii) Attachment



PAGE: 2 of 14 REFERENCE #: 02-04-030 
 

2 

 

The Leadership Team 
 

a) Ensures all staff know and follow policy directions for procurement of goods and 
services 
 

b) Considers price, quality and timely delivery of the product or service being procured 
rather than only the lowest invoice price 
 

c) Considers the total acquisition cost 
 

d) Monitors expenses on a regular basis to ensure that they are within the approved 
budget 

 
Staff 
 

a) Ensure they understand the Procurement Policy  
 

b) Ensure they are accountable for the decision and actions they take pursuant to this 
policy 

 
c) Continually seek to purchase goods and services in an efficient and cost effective 

manner 
 
For the purposes of this policy, “Administration” includes the MOH/CEO, Executive Team, 
Manager of Accounting & Budgeting and the Manager of Records, Storage, and Facilities.   

 
 

3.0 SCOPE OF APH PROCUREMENT POLICY 
 

This policy applies to the procurement of goods and services for Algoma Public Health.  
Exemptions of this policy include: 
 

a) Training and Education 
i. Registration for conferences, conventions, courses and seminars 
ii. Magazines, subscriptions, books and periodicals 
iii. Memberships 

 
b) Refundable Employee Expenses 

i. Meal allowances 
ii. Travel expenses 

 
c) Employer’s General Expenses 

i. Payroll deduction remittances 
ii. Government license fees 
iii. Insurance premiums/employee benefits 
iv. Damage and insurance deductible claims 
v. Petty cash replenishment 
vi. Tax remittances 

 
 

49 of 134



PAGE: 3 of 14 REFERENCE #: 02-04-030 
 

3 

 

vii. Loan payments 
viii. Bank fees and charges 
ix. Grants to agencies and partners 
x. Payments pursuant to agreements approved by the Board of Health 

 
d) Professional and Special Services 

i. Special tax, accounting and audit services and advice from the Board-approved 
auditor 

ii. Legal fees and other professional services related to litigation or legal matters 
iii. Witness fees 
iv. Medical, Clinical and Laboratory Services 
v. Honoraria  
vi. Warranty work resulting from contractual obligations 

 
e) Utilities 

 
f) Advertising services required by APH on or in but not limited to radio, television, online, 

newspaper and magazines 
 
g) Bailiff or collection agencies 
 
h) Software licensing renewals  
 
i) Real Property Interests 

i. All real estate transactions 
 

j) A situation where a competitive process could interfere with the APH’s ability to 
maintain security or order or to protect human, animal or plant life or health 
 

k) Emergency Goods & Services where an unforeseen situation or urgency exists, and the 
goods or services cannot be obtained through a competitive process.  Purchase of 
these emergency items must be authorized by the CFO or the Medical Officer of 
Health/CEO.  An unforeseen situation of emergency does not occur where APH has 
failed to allow sufficient time to conduct a competitive process. 

 
l) Goods & services where there is only one supplier available and no alternative or 

substitute exists 
 

 
4.0 PROCUREMENT PROCEDURES 

 
The purchasing cycle includes the following steps: 
 

a) Authority to purchase goods and services through budget approval and delegation of 
duties by the Board of Health 
 

b) A purchase requisition/ purchase order approval 
 

 
 

50 of 134



PAGE: 4 of 14 REFERENCE #: 02-04-030 
 

4 

 

c) Receipt of goods/services and invoice 
 

d) Payment made to vendor 
 

All goods and services necessary to support Algoma Public Health programs and services 
must be authorized and follow the appropriate purchasing procedures. 
 
4.1Signing Authority and forms of Commitment by Role 

 

Expenditure $ Amount Required Approval

0-$500 Executive Assistant to CEO or MOH/Board Secretary or Executive Assistant to Executive Team

$0-2,500 Program Manager

$0 - $10,000 Any Director or Manager of Accounting & Budgeting 

$0 - $50,000 CEO or MOH or CFO

Greater than $50,000 Board of Health 

 
 

4.2 General Guidelines 
 

a) The spending authorization limits noted above and throughout this policy are before 
applicable taxes 

 
b) The goods or services purchased must be taken in their entirety (and not broken down 

into component parts) 
 

4.3 Purchase Requisition/Purchase Order.  
 
For the purposes of this Policy, an APH Purchase Order will serve as the request to purchase 
a good or service (purchase requisition) by staff.  Requisitions may be initiated at any level, but 
only the above named positions can bind a Purchase Order through the authorization levels as 
defined by the dollar amounts noted above.   A Purchase Order serves as the legal offer to buy 
products or services from a vendor.  Once a vendor accepts a P.O from APH, a contract now 
exists to purchase the goods or services.   
 

a) The Purchase Requisition/Purchase Order is used to request a vendor or administration 
to acquire materials, parts, supplies, equipment, or services.  

 
b) The Purchase Requisition/Purchase Order is a three (3) part form with a pre-printed 

number. The white copy is to be forwarded to the vendor via mail or electronic means, 
the yellow copy is to be forwarded to APH Accounts Payable.  APH Accounts Payable 
will use the Purchase order number to match with the vendor invoice in addition to the 
receipt documentation such as a packing slip in order to execute payment.  Once 
payment is completed, documentation is filed by APH Accounts Payable.  The pink copy 
along with copies of all documentation should be retained by the requisitioning 
department for future inquiry,   

 

 
 

51 of 134



PAGE: 5 of 14 REFERENCE #: 02-04-030 
 

5 

 

c) The requisitioning program is responsible for providing the complete account number, 
and appropriate signature(s) as indicated by Signing Authority established in this policy.     

 
d) All quotations and correspondence from the vendor and supporting documentation (e.g., 

written bids, letters of justification and/or Sole Source Justification) must be attached by 
the requisitioning department to the Purchase Order when submitted to APH Accounts 
Payable. 

 
e) Administration reserves the right to seek additional bids from other qualified sources as 

it deems appropriate.   
 

f) Departments should anticipate their requirements to allow adequate lead time for order 
processing and product delivery. Item descriptions should be complete and accurate to 
allow buyers to bid the requirements expeditiously. 

 
g) Petty Cash purchases are not required to provide a purchase order.  

 
4.4 Change Order – Cancellation or Modification of a Purchase Order 
 
Only Administration is authorized to change a purchase order. Changes in a previously issued 
purchase order can be made only by a new purchase order marked “Change Order”. The 
changes may refer to price, quantities ordered, terms and conditions, delivery point, etc. 
Please contact Administration for assistance with Change Orders.  
 
4.5 Blanket Purchase Orders 
 
A Blanket Purchase Order is a purchase order APH makes with a supplier which contains 
multiple delivery dates over a period of time, often negotiated to take advantage of 
predetermined pricing.  It is normally used when there is a recurring need for expendable 
goods (i.e. birth control pills, vaccines, etc.). Blanket Purchase Orders are often used when 
APH buys large quantities of a particular good and has obtained special discounts as a result 
of bulk purchasing.   
 
Request to enter into a blanket Purchase Order must be approved by the CFO or Manager of 
Accounting and Budgeting.  A blanket Purchase Order generally should not exceed 1year.  
The associated Program Manager and their reporting Director must approve the Blanket 
Purchase Order.  As a need for the product is recognized within the program, an order form 
template must be completed and approved by staff.   
 
4.6 Cheque Requisition 
 
For miscellaneous or non-competitive purchases, payment for goods and services may be 
initiated by completing a Cheque Requisition.  A Cheque Requisition is completed by the 
department making the request and is authorized and signed by the employee’s Manager.  
Cheque Requisitions require the approval of the CFO or Manager of Accounting and 
Budgeting.   
 
 

 
 

52 of 134



PAGE: 6 of 14 REFERENCE #: 02-04-030 
 

6 

 

4.7 Petty Cash  
 
Petty cash may be used for immediate needs such as stationery, or miscellaneous program 
material supply purchases of $200 and under.  Petty cash may not be used for travel 
expenses, business meetings, meals, personal loans, registration fees, equipment purchases, 
consultant fees or any other type of personal service payments, salary advances or the 
cashing of personal cheques.   
 
Disbursements from the Petty Cash Fund must be properly documented with original itemized 
receipts approved by the employees Manager or a Director and include the appropriate cost 
center as to where the charges should be expensed to.  Receipts should include a description 
of the business purpose of the transaction, goods, or services purchased and the date. (See 
petty cash policy). 
 
4.8 Use of Corporate Credit Card 
 
Corporate credit cards are authorized by the Board of Health to permit staff to carry out 
approved business transactions.   Purchases made via a corporate credit card must follow the 
guidelines as set out in this policy.   
 
 

5.0 VENDOR SELECTION AND QUOTATION PROCEDURE 
 
5.1 Requests for Bids/Quotations/Proposals/Tenders and Dollar Thresholds 
 
Requests for bids, quotations and proposals are mandated for the purchase of all goods and 
services according to the following guidelines: 

 $1 – $5,000: Bids, quotations and/or proposals are recommended but not required. 
 $5,000 – $15,000: Two (2) written or faxed bids, quotations, and/or proposals are 

required. 
 $15,000 to $50,000: Three (3) written bids, quotations, and/or proposals are required. 
 For purchases greater than $50,000 a formal Request for Quotation (Tender) must be 

adhered to.  Board approval is required once the successful bidder is chosen.   
 

The time frames for soliciting this information are generally ten (10) business days.  The 
submission of split requisitions in an attempt to circumvent the bidding policy is not 
allowed.  

 
Faxed or written bids, quotations and/or proposals must go through APH Administration.     
 
Vendors submitting an RFQ should be in good standing with APH.  Administration may, at their 
discretion, secure other competitive bids regardless of the dollar thresholds listed at any time. 
Furthermore, Administration may, at their discretion, conduct negotiations with more than the 
apparent low bidder when it is deemed to be in APH’s best interest to do so. 

 
As APH strives to provide the best quality of program offerings and services, the lowest price 
received in the bid and RFQ process may not always be accepted.  In such cases, justification 
for choosing an alternative bid or RFQ must accompany the package of bids or RFQs. In some 

 
 

53 of 134



PAGE: 7 of 14 REFERENCE #: 02-04-030 
 

7 

 

cases, the required number of formal bids may not be possible (i.e. potential vendors decides 
not to bid).  In such cases, evidence of solicitation of the required number of bids as outlined in 
this policy must be maintained.   
 
Bids and RFQs should be filed for a minimum of 2 years.  Purchasing decisions are based on 
price, quality, availability and suitability.   
 
5.2 Confidentiality of Bids/Quotations/Proposals 
 
In accordance with fair and best business practice, all information supplied by vendors in their 
bid, quotation or proposal must be held in strict confidence by the employee evaluating the bid, 
quotation or proposal and may not be revealed to any other vendor or unauthorized individual.  
Failure to do so may result in termination.   
 
5.3 Late Bids/Quotations/Proposals 
 

a) All bids, quotations and proposals are to be date and time stamped to assure that they 
are received prior to the deadline for submission. It is the responsibility of the vendor to 
ensure that their bids are received by the responsible person no later than the 
appointed hour of the bid opening date as specified on the request for bid.  

 
b) Late submissions will not be considered. 

 
5.4 Errors in Bids/Quotations/Proposals 
 

a) Vendors are responsible for the accuracy of their quoted prices. In the event of an error 
between a unit price and its extension, the unit price will govern. Quotations may be 
amended or withdrawn by the bidder up to the bid opening date and time, after which, in 
the event of an error, bids may not be amended but may be withdrawn prior to the 
acceptance of the bid.  

 
b) After an order has been issued, no bid may be withdrawn or amended unless the 

Administration considers the change to be in APH’s best interests. 
 

5.5 Sole Source Procurement and Justification 
 
The Director, in consultation with the applicable Manager, shall initiate sole source purchases 
provided that any of the following conditions apply:   
 

a) where there is only one known source 
 

b) where the compatibility of a purchase with existing equipment, facilities, or services 
is a paramount consideration 

 
c) when competition is precluded because of the existence of patent rights, copyrights, 

trade secrets 
 

 
 

54 of 134



PAGE: 8 of 14 REFERENCE #: 02-04-030 
 

8 

 

d) where the procurement is for electric power or energy, gas, water or other utility 
services  

 
e) where it would not be practical to allow a contractor other than the utility company 

itself to work upon the system 
 

f) where a good is purchased for testing or trial use 
 

g) where it is most cost effective or beneficial to APH 
 
h) when the procurement is for technical services in connection with the assembly, 

installation or servicing of equipment of a highly technical or specialized nature 
 
i) when the procurement is for parts or components to be used as replacements in 

support of equipment specifically designed by the manufacturer 
 
j) when a contractor is already at work on the site (based on an existing Purchase 

Order) and it would not be practical to engage another contractor 
 

 
6.0 SPECIAL PROCUREMENT POLICIES 
 

6.1 CONTRACTS/LEASES 
 

Signing authority to enter into a contract/lease will follow the limits as set out in section 4.1 of      
this policy.  In addition;  
 
The Board of Health must approve contracts where:  

 
 a)  Irregularities preclude the award of a contract to the lowest bidder in the Tending 

and Request for Quotation process and the ‘total acquisition cost’ exceeds $50,000, 
 
b)  A bid solicitation has been restricted to a single source supply and the ‘total 

acquisition cost’ of such goods or services exceeds $50,000 
 
c)  The contract/lease is for multiple years and exceeds $50,000 per year 

 
6.2 Consulting Services 

 
Consulting Services are provided by an individual or company with expertise or strategic      
advice.  The individual is working under a contract relationship rather than an employee 
relationship.   

 
The acquisition of all consulting services must be sought through a competitive process.  The 
limits for the competitive process for consulting services are as follows:     

 
 $1 – $50,000: Three (3) written or faxed bids, quotations, and/or proposals are 

required. 

 
 

55 of 134



PAGE: 9 of 14 REFERENCE #: 02-04-030 
 

9 

 

 For purchases greater than $50,000 a formal Request for Quotation must be adhered.   
 

All contractual agreements with consultants up to $50,000 must be approved by the Medical 
Officer of Health/CEO and CFO.  Consulting Contracts for more than $50,000 requires the 
approval of the Medical Officer of Health/CEO and the Board of Health.   

 
If an emergency consulting services situation arises where a competitive process is not 
practical or feasible, the Chair or Vice Chair of the Board of Health must be notified by the 
MOH/CEO. Allowable exceptions for a non-competitive procurement of consulting services 
include: 

 
a) Situations of urgency where the consulting services cannot be obtained by means of a 

competitive process.  An urgent situation does not include the failure to plan ahead 
leaving insufficient time. 
 

b) Where consulting services regarding maters of a confidential or privileged nature are 
being purchased and disclosure of those maters would be contrary to public interest. 

 
c) Where a competitive process could interfere with APH’s ability to protect human, animal 

or plant life or health. 
 
d) Where there is an absence of the required number of bids in response to a competitive 

procurement process based on this policy 
 

Consulting Services do not include services in which the physical component of an activity   
would be prevailing.  For example, services for the operation and maintenance of a facility or 
plant;  

 
Consulting services do not include any licensed professional services such as medical doctors, 
dentists, nurses, pharmacists, engineers, chartered accountants, lawyers, actuaries, land 
surveyors, etc. engaged to work on behalf of APH.    

 
All consultants working on behalf of APH who will have direct access to APH financial records, 
bank accounts, or employee records as per the terms of their contract are required to provide a 
current police information check (PIC). This includes but is not limited to any consultant or 
licensed professional who will serve in the capacity of APH’s Chief Financial Officer/Business 
Administrator, Manager of Accounting and Budgeting, Payroll Administrator, Information 
Technology support, or Director of Human Resources.    

 
All consultants or service providers working on behalf of APH who will interact with children, 
youth or vulnerable persons as per the terms of their contract are required to provide a current 
police vulnerable sector check (PV5C). If the service provider is required to provide a criminal 
reference check to their Regulatory College as part of the annual licensure process, an 
attestation from the service provider along with the copy of their current licensure will be 
accepted.  
 

 
 

56 of 134



PAGE: 10 of 14 REFERENCE #: 02-04-030 
 

10 

 

Provision of the required criminal record search is required prior to commencement of any 
consulting work with APH.   All offers for consulting services are conditional on receipt of 
satisfactory criminal reference checks. 

 
References 

 
All consultants are required to provide the names and contact information of at least two (2) 
references for which similar services were recently provided. This includes, but is not limited to 
any consultant or licensed service provider who is a nurse.  

 
Positive references are required prior to commencement of any consulting work with APH.  All 
offers for consulting services are conditional on receipt of satisfactory reference checks.  
 
6.3 Approvals for Construction and Alterations to Physical Space 
 

a) All requisitions for construction, renovation, or alteration to physical space at Algoma 
Public Health under $50,000 require the review and prior written approval of the CFO 
and the Medical Officer of Health/CEO.  Over $50,000, they require authorization of the 
Board of Health. 

 
b) Detailed specifications, drawings, and/or blue prints, if appropriate, should accompany 

the Purchase Requisition. Requisitions submitted to Accounts Payable without the prior 
written approval will not be processed. 

 
6.4 Equipment and Equipment Screening 

 
a) Algoma Public Health has established a policy governing the acquisition, control, and 

disposition of Algoma Public Health equipment. 
 

b) It is the policy of Algoma Public Health to ensure that every effort is made to avoid the 
purchase of unnecessary or duplicate equipment.  

 
c) The purchasing authorization levels by role defined in the policy will govern equipment 

purchases. 
 
 

7.0 PROHIBITIONS 
 
7.1 Conflicts of Interest 

 
a) Employee shall not place themselves into positions where they could be tempted to 

prefer their own interests or the interest of another, over the interest of the public that 
they are employed to serve.  Whenever employees, during the discharge of their duties, 
become exposed to or involved in actual/or potential Conflicts of Interest, they must 
disclose the situation to their Manager/ Director/MOH/CEO/Board of Health (as may be 
appropriate) and shall abide by the advice given. 
 
 

 
 

57 of 134



PAGE: 11 of 14 REFERENCE #: 02-04-030 
 

11 

 

7.2  Gifts, Gratuities, and Kickbacks 
 

Algoma Public Health policy prohibits all employees from accepting gifts, gratuities or 
kickbacks of any value from vendors or service providers to Algoma Public Health.  Items of a 
very minimal value which are of an advertising nature only, and available to other customers 
may be accepted (e.g. pens, hats, coffee cups, etc.).  Any questions an APH employee may 
have as the appropriateness of the value of the item must be communicated to the employee’s 
Manager/ Director/ MOH/CEO/Board of Health (as may be appropriate).   
 
7.3  Personal Purchases 

 
The purchase of any goods or services for personal use by or on behalf of any APH employee, 
for purposes other than the bona fide requirements of APH is strictly prohibited.   

 
7.4  Disposal of Surplus Goods 

 
The Disposal of surplus and obsolete equipment shall be evaluated on a case by case basis.   

 
The CFO in conjunction with the MOH/CEO shall have the authority to sell, exchange, or 
otherwise dispose of Goods declared as surplus needs of APH, and where it is cost effective 
and in the best interest of APH to do so.  Items or groups of items may: 

 
a) Be offered for sale to other Health Units, affiliates or other government agencies or 

public authorities; or 
b) Be sold by external advertisement, formal request, auction or public sale (where it is 

deemed appropriate, a reserve price may be established); or 
c) Be donated to a not-for-profit agency; or 
d) Be recycled; or 
e) In the event all efforts to dispose of Goods by sale are unsuccessful, these items may 

be scrapped or destroyed if recycling is unavailable 
 

No disposition of such Good(s) shall be made to employees, elected officials, or their family 
members. 

 
7.5  Purchase of Surplus Goods 

 
As appropriate, the Manager of Accounting and Budgeting and/or the CFO shall record the 
disposition of Tangible Capital Assets.   

 
7.6  Division of Contracts 

 
The division of a contract to avoid the requirements of this policy is prohibited.   
 
 

8.0 Review and Evaluation 
 

 
 

58 of 134



PAGE: 12 of 14 REFERENCE #: 02-04-030 
 

12 

 

The effectiveness of this policy will be evaluated and reviewed every five years by the Board of 
Health, or more frequently as required.  This review will include both legislative requirements 
and best practices.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

59 of 134



PAGE: 13 of 14 REFERENCE #: 02-04-030 
 

13 

 

Glossary of Roles Noted within Algoma Public Health Procurement Policy 
 
Administration – consist of the Medical Officer of Health/CEO, the Executive Team, the 
Manager of Accounting & Budgeting and the Manager of Records, Storage and Facilities. 

Board of Health for the District of Algoma Health Unit - is the governing body of Algoma 
Public Health and is established by the provincial public health legislation, the Health 
Protection and Promotion Act, RSO 1990, (HPPA) and regulations. 
 
Chair of the Board – is the highest officer of Algoma Public Health.  The individual holding 
this position is elected by members of the Board of Health for the District of Algoma Health 
Unit.   
 
Consultant – is an individual or company that provides expertise or strategic advice to Algoma 
Public Health.  The individual is working under a contract relationship rather than an employee 
relationship and is paid through submission of invoices.  Consulting services do not include 
any licensed professional services engaged to work on behalf of Algoma Public Health.   
 
Executive Team – consists of the Medical Officer of Health/CEO, the Chief Financial Officer, 
Director of Human Resources, Program Directors. 
 
Leadership Team – consists of the Executive Team plus Program Managers, the Manager of 
Accounting and Budgeting and the Manager of Records, Storage and Facilities. 

 
Staff/Employee – a person who is hired to provide services to a company on a regular basis 
in exchange for compensation and who does not provide these services as part of an 
independent business. 
 
Vendor – the party in the supply chain that makes the goods or services available or sells 
something to Algoma Public Health. 
 
Vice Chair of the Board - is the second highest officer of Algoma Public Health behind the 
Chair of the Board.  The individual holding this position is elected by members of the Board of 
Health for the District of Algoma Health Unit.   
 

 

 

 

 

Original: February 13, 1996 
Revised: March 2006 
Revised: February 24, 2009 
Revised: March 18, 2015 
Revised:  May 20, 2015 
Revised: October 28, 2015

 
 

60 of 134



14 

 

 

 
 

61 of 134



Algoma Public Health - GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE – Policies and Procedures Manual 
 
APPROVED BY: Board of Health BY-LAW #: 95-1 
    
DATE: O:  December 13, 1995 SECTION: Board 
 Revised: February 2011   
 Revised:  October 28, 2015   
    
PAGE: 1 of 9 SUBJECT: To Regulate the Proceedings 

of the Board of Health 
    
 

The Board enacts as follows: 
 

Interpretation 
 

1.  In this By-law:  
 
a)  “Act” means the Health Protection and Promotion Act. S.D. Ontario 1983, Chapter 10 

as amended; 
 

b) “Board” means THE BOARD OF HEALTH FOR THE DISTRICT OF ALGOMA HEALTH 
UNIT, as prescribed; 

 
c) “Chair” means the person presiding at the meeting of the Board; 

 
d) “Chair of the Board” means the Chair elected under Section 56 of the Act which reads: 
 

i) A Board of Health shall hold its first meeting of each year not later than the 1st 
day of February 

ii) At the first meeting of the Board of Health in each year, the members of the 
Board shall elect one of the members to be Chairman and one to be Vice-
chairman of the Board for the year; 

 
e) “Committee” means a committee of the Board, but does not include the Committee of 

the Whole; 
 

f) “Committee of the Whole”  means all the members present at a meeting of the Board 
sitting in Committee; 

 
g) “Meeting” means a meeting of the Board;  
 
h) “Member” means a member of the Board; 
 
i) “Quorum” means a majority of members of the Board; 
 
j) “Secretary” means the Secretary of the Board of Health; 
 
k) Words that indicate singular masculine gender only shall include plural and/or feminine 

gender. 

 

 
 

62 of 134

christina_luukkonen
Typewritten Text
6c-i) Attachment



PAGE: 2 of 9 BY-LAW #: 95-1 
 

General 
 
2. The Board shall hold the first meeting of each year not later than the first day of February.  At 

the first meeting of the Board in each year, members of the Board shall elect one member to 
be Chair and one to be Vice-chair of the Board for the year. The Vice-chair shall chair at least 
one of the standing committees of the Board. 

 
3. The Board shall consist of the members as prescribed under the Act; 

 
a) Where a vacancy occurs in the Board by death, disqualification, resignation or removal 

of a member, the person or body that appointed the member shall appoint a person 
forthwith to fill the vacancy for the remainder of the term of the member. 

 
4. In all the proceedings at or taken by this Board, the following rules and regulations shall be 

observed and shall be the rules and regulations for the order and dispatch of business at the 
Board, and in the Committee (s) thereof.  

 
5. Except as herein provided, Robert’s Rules of Order shall be followed for governing the 

proceedings of the Board and the conduct of its members. 
 
6. A person who is not a member of the Board shall not be permitted to address the Board except 

upon invitation of the Chair subject to written request to the Secretary at least two weeks prior 
to the scheduled meeting. 

 
7. In unusual circumstances persons who have not requested in writing to address the Board 

may address the Board provided two-thirds of the Board are in agreement. 
 
 
Meetings 

 
8. Regular Meetings: 

 
a) The regular meetings shall be held at a date and time as determined by the Board at its 

first regular meeting of the year; 
 

b) The Board may, by resolution, alter the time, day or place of any meeting; 
 
c) It is expected that commitments to regularly scheduled Board meetings be honoured by 

the Board members; 
 
d) Three consecutive absences from regular Board meetings by a member of the Board 

will be reviewed by the Chair of the Board with the member in question; following which, 
notification may be forwarded to the appropriate municipality, council or the province. 

 
9. Special Meetings: 

 
a) A special meeting of the Board shall not be called for a time which conflicts with a 

regular meeting previously called of (participating) council(s) or municipality(s). 
 

b) A special meeting may be called by the Chair of the Board of Health. 
 

 
 

63 of 134



PAGE: 3 of 9 BY-LAW #: 95-1 
 

c) The Secretary shall call a special meeting upon receipt of a petition signed by the 
majority of Board members, for the purpose and at the time mentioned in the petition. 

 
10. Notice of Meetings: 

 
a) The Secretary shall give notice of each regular and special meeting of the Board and of 

each committee to the members thereof and to the heads of departments concerned 
with such meeting. 

 
b) The notice shall be accompanied by the agenda and any other matter, so far as is 

known, to be brought before such meeting. 
 

c) The notice for a regular meeting shall be delivered or sent by electronic means or 
courier to the residence or place of business of each member so as to be received not 
later than three working days prior to the day of the meeting. 

 
d) The notice for a special meeting may be sent by telephone or by electronic means with 

the Secretary confirming receipt. 
 
e) No errors or omissions in giving such notice for the meeting shall invalidate it or any 

action taken. 
 
f) The notice calling a special meeting of the Board shall state the business to be 

considered at the special meeting and no business other than that stated in the notice 
shall be considered at such meeting except with the unanimous consent of the 
members present and voting. 

 
11. Preparation of the Agenda: 
 

a) The Secretary shall have prepared for the use of members at the regular meetings, the 
Agenda as follows: 

 
i. Call to Order 
ii. Declaration of Conflict of Interest 
iii. Adoption of Agenda 
iv. Adoption of Minutes of Previous Meeting 
v. Business Arising from Minutes 
vi. Delegations/Presentations 
vii. Reports of Committees 
viii. Reports of Officers/Program Managers 
ix. Correspondence/Items for Information 
x. Addendum 
xi. Announcements 
xii. New Business/General Business 
xiii. In-Committee Session 
xiv. Return to Open Meeting 
xv. Adjournment 

 
 
 
  

 
64 of 134



PAGE: 4 of 9 BY-LAW #: 95-1 
 

b) For special meetings, the Agenda shall be prepared when and as the Chair of the Board 
may direct or, in default of such direction, as provided in the last preceding section so 
far as is applicable. 

 
c) The business for each meeting shall be taken up in the order in which it stands upon the 

Agenda, unless otherwise decided by the Board. 
 

12. Commencement of Meetings: 
 

a) As soon as there is a quorum after the hour fixed for the meeting, the Chair of the Board 
or Vice-chair of the Board, if the Chair is not present shall take the chair and call the 
members to order. 

 
b) If the Chair or Vice-chair is not present, or their duly appointed representative, but a 

quorum is otherwise achieved, the Secretary shall call the members to order and a 
presiding officer shall be appointed by the Secretary to preside during the meeting or 
until the arrival of the person who ought to preside. 

 
c) If there is no quorum with 15 minutes after the time appointed for the meeting, the 

Secretary shall call the roll and take down the names of the members then present.  If 
an absence of an expected Quorum occurs due to a health emergency or to weather 
conditions and business must be expedited, the Board shall have the privilege of 
designating items of business as essential to be expedited at that meeting.  Under these 
conditions the Board shall have the privilege of conducting the necessary items of 
business but such items shall be confirmed at the next meeting of the Board 

 
 
Rules of Debate and Conduct of Members of the Board 

 
13. The Chair shall preside over the conduct of the meeting, including the preservation of good 

order and decorum, ruling on point of order and deciding all questions relating to the orderly 
procedure of the meetings, subject to an appeal by any member to the Board from any ruling 
of the Chair. 

 
14. Each deputation will be allowed a maximum of one speaker for a maximum of 10 minutes, but 

a member of the Board may introduce a deputation in addition to the speaker or speakers. 
Normally, a deputation will not be heard on an item unless there is a report from staff on the 
item or upon agreement of two-thirds of the Board present. 

 
a) The Board shall render its decision in each case within five (5) working days after 

deputations have been heard. 
 
15. If the Chair desires to leave the chair for the purpose of taking part in the debate or otherwise, 

the Chair shall call on another member, prior to the beginning of the debate, to fill his place 
until he resumes the chair. 

 
16. Every member, prior to speaking to any question or motion, shall be acknowledged by the 

Chair. 
 
 
  

 
65 of 134



PAGE: 5 of 9 BY-LAW #: 95-1 
 

17. When two or more members ask to speak, the Chair shall name the member who, in his 
opinion, first asked to speak. The Chair shall develop a speakers list when more than one 
member wishes to address each item. 

 
18. A member may speak more than once on a question, but after speaking shall be placed at the 

foot of the list of members wishing to speak. 
 

19. A motion for introducing new matter shall not be presented without notice unless the Board, 
without debate, dispenses with such notice by a majority vote and no report requiring action of 
the Board shall be introduced to the Board unless a copy has been placed in the hands of the 
members at least one day prior to the meeting, except by a majority vote, taken without 
debate. 

 
20. Every motion presented to the Board shall be written. 

 
21. Every motion shall be deemed to be in possession of the Board for debate after it is presented 

by the Chair, but may, with permission of the Board, be withdrawn at any time before 
amendment or decision. 

 
22. When a matter is under debate, no motion shall be received other than a motion: 

 
a) to adopt, 
b) to amend, 
c) to defer action, 
d) to refer, 
e) to receive, 
f) to adjourn the meeting, or 
g) that the vote be now taken.   
 

23.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
24. When a motion that the vote be now taken is presented, it shall be put to a vote without 

debate, and, if carried by a majority vote of the members present, the motion and any 
amendments thereto under discussion shall be submitted to a vote forthwith without further 
debate. 

 
25. Any member, including the Chair, may propose or second a motion and all members including 

the Chair shall vote on all motions except when disqualified by reasons of interest or 
otherwise; a tie vote shall be considered lost.  When the Chair proposes a motion, he shall 
vacate the chair to the Vice-chair during debate on the motion and reassume the chair 
following the vote. 

 
 
 
 
 

a) A motion to refer or defer shall take precedence over any other amendment or 
motion except a motion to adjourn. 

b) A motion to refer shall require direction as to the body to which it is being referred 
and is not debatable. 

c) A motion to defer must include a reason and a time period for the deferral and is not 
debatable. 

 

 
 

66 of 134



PAGE: 6 of 9 BY-LAW #: 95-1 
 

Duties of the Secretary for the Board 
 

26. It shall be the duty of the Secretary: 
 

a) to attend or cause an assistant to attend all meetings of the Board; 
 

b) to keep or cause to be kept full and accurate minutes of the meetings of all the Board 
meetings, text of By-laws and Resolutions passed by it; and 
 

c) to forward a copy of all resolutions, enactments and orders of the Board to those 
concerned in order to give effect to the same. 
 

d) to give all notices required to be given to the members. 
 
 

Appointment and Organization of Committees 
 
27. At the first meeting in any year, the Board shall appoint the members required by the Board to 

standing committees(s) (Finance and Audit Committee, Governance Committee).  
 
28. The Board may appoint committees from time to time to consider such matters as specified by 

the Board. 
 
 

Conduct of Business in Committees 
 
29. The rules governing the procedure of the Board shall be observed in the Committees insofar 

as applicable. 
 
30. It shall be the duty of the Committee: 

 
a) to report to the Board on all matters referred to them and to recommend such action as 

they deem necessary; 
 

b) to report to the Board the number of meetings called during a year, at which a quorum 
was present, and the number of meetings attended by each member of the Committee; 
and 
 

c) to forward to the incoming Committee for the following year any matter undisposed of. 
 
 

Procedures of the Board Covered by other By-laws 
 

31. The procedures of the Board with respect to: 
 

a) incurring of liabilities and paying of accounts; 
b) authority for expenditures; 
c) audits; 
d) budgets and settlements; 

 
Shall be in accordance with the By-laws #95-2 and #95-3.  

 
67 of 134



PAGE: 7 of 9 BY-LAW #: 95-1 
 

Corporate Seal 
 

32. The corporate seal of the Board shall be in the form impressed hereon and shall be kept by the 
Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer. 

 
 
Short Name 

 
33. The Board will use the short name Algoma Public Health for signage, communications and 

promotional messaging and other matters as warranted. 
 
 

Execution of Documents 
 

34. The Board may at any time and from time to time, direct the manner in which and the person 
or persons who may sign on behalf of the Board and affix the corporate seal to any particular 
contract, arrangement, conveyance, mortgage, obligation, or other document or any class of 
contracts, arrangements, conveyances, mortgages, obligations or documents. 

 
35. In general, unless changed by a resolution of the Board under clause 34 of this By-law, the 

following applies:  
 

a) Budgets and Settlement Forms will be signed by the combination of Board member(s) 
and staff of the agency as required by Ministry specifications;  

 
b) Leases for real estate will be signed by the Chair of the Board and by the Medical 

Officer of Health or Chief Executive Officer; 
 
c) Leases or purchase agreements for vehicles, as approved in budgets, will be signed by 

the Director/Chief Financial Officer and/or the Medical Officer of Health or Chief 
Executive Officer (should two signatures be necessary); 

 
d) Purchase of service agreements with service providers for programs will be signed by 

the Medical Officer of Health/CEO and by the appropriate program Director. 
 
e) Purchase of service agreements with service providers for financial, building and 

corporate services will be signed by the Medical Officer of Health or Chief Executive 
Officer and by the appropriate administrative manager or Director/Chief Financial 
Officer. 

 
 
Duties of Officers 

 
36. The Chair of the Board shall: 
 

a) preside at all meetings of the Board; 
 
b) represent the Board at public or official functions or designate another Board member to 

do so; 
 
  

 
68 of 134



PAGE: 8 of 9 BY-LAW #: 95-1 
 

c) be ex-officio a member of all Committees to which he has not been named a member; 
 
d) complete an annual performance appraisal of the Medical Officer of Health/CEO using 

input from the Medical Officer of Health/CEO as well as the members of the Board, with 
the results of this appraisal being shared with the Board members in camera; 

 
e) perform such other duties as may from time to time be determined by the Board.  

 
37. The Vice-chair shall have all the powers and perform all the duties of the Chair of the Board in 

the absence or disability of the Chair of the Board, together with such powers and duties, if 
any, as may be from time to time assigned by the Board. 

 
 
Amendments 

 
38. Any provision contained herein may be repealed, amended or varied, and additions may be 

made to this By-law by a majority vote of members present at the meeting at which such 
motion is considered to give effect to any recommendation contained in a Report to the Board 
and such report has been transmitted to members of the Board prior to the meeting at which 
the report is to be considered.  No motion for that purpose may be considered, unless notice 
thereof has been received by the Secretary two weeks before a Board meeting and such 
notice may not be waived and in any event no bill to amend this By-law shall be introduced at 
the same meeting as that at which such report or motion is considered. 

 
 

Dismissal of Medical Officer(s) of Health/CEO 
 

39. A decision by the Board of Health to dismiss a Medical Officer of Health/CEO from office is not 
effective unless: 

 
a) the decision is carried by the vote of two-thirds of the members of the Board; and 
 
b) in situations where the Medical Officer of Health is a separate position from the CEO 

position the Minister consents in writing to the dismissal of the MOH. 
 
40. The Board of Health shall not vote on the dismissal of a Medical Officer of Health/CEO unless 

the Board has given to the Medical Officer of Health/CEO: 
 

a) reasonable written notice of the time, place and purpose of the meeting at which the 
dismissal is to be considered; 

 
b) a written statement of the reason for the proposal to dismiss the Medical Officer of 

Health/CEO; and 
 
c) an opportunity to attend and to make representation to the Board at the meeting. 

 
 
 
 
 
  

 
69 of 134



PAGE: 9 of 9 BY-LAW #: 95-1 
 

Reporting of Medical Officer of Health to the Board of Health/CEO 
 
1. The Medical Officer of Health/CEO of a board of health reports directly to the board of health 

on issues relating to public health concerns and to public health programs and services under 
this or any other Act. The Medical Officer of Health of a board of health is responsible to the 
board for the management of the public health programs and services under this or any other 
Act. (HPPA, s.67(1) and (3)) 
 

2. The Medical Officer of Health/CEO of a board of health is entitled to notice of and to attend 
each meeting of the Board and every committee of the Board, but the Board may require the 
Medical Officer of Health/CEO to withdraw from any part of a meeting at which the Board or a 
Committee of the Board intends to consider a matter related to the remuneration or the 
performance of the duties of the Medical Officer of Health. (HPPA, s70) 

 
 
Enacted and passed by the Algoma Health Unit Board this 13th day of December, 1995. 
 
         Original signed by 

I. Lawson, Chair 
G. Caputo, Vice-chair 
 

Revised and passed by the Algoma Health Unit Board this 18th day of November 1998 
Revised and passed by the Algoma Public Health Board February 2011 
Revised and passed by the Algoma Public Health Board on this 28th day of October 2015 
 

 
 

70 of 134



Algoma Public Health – GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE – Policies and Procedures Manual 
 
APPROVED BY: Board of Health REFERENCE #: 02-05-015 
    
DATE: O: January 18, 1995 SECTION: Board 
 Reviewed: June 17, 2014   
 Revised:  October 28, 2015   
    
PAGE: 1 of 2 SUBJECT: Conflict of Interest 
    

POLICY: 

Each member of the Board of Health has the obligation to avoid ethical, legal, financial or other conflicts of 
interest and to ensure that their activities and interests do not conflict with their obligations to the Board of 
Health of the Algoma District Health Unit (operating as Algoma Public Health) or its welfare. 

The basic concept underlying the development of guidelines on conflict of interest is to prevent conflict of 
interest from arising by placing responsibility on the member for disclosing any conflicts of interest to the 
meeting or for removing oneself from the Board if employment with the Board is being sought by the 
member. 

A board member should not use information that is not public knowledge, obtained as a result of his or her 
appointment, for personal benefit. 

No board member should divulge confidential information obtained as a result of his or her appointment 
unless legally required to do so. 

The purpose of the Conflict of Interest Policy is to: 

i) assist individual board members in determining when his or her participation on a board 
decision/discussion has the potential to be used for personal or private benefit, financial or 
otherwise;  

ii) protect the integrity of the Board as a whole and its members by following the conflict of Interest 
Policy and Procedures 
 

Definitions: A conflict of interest situation arises where a member either on his/her own behalf or 
while acting for, by, with or through another, has any direct or indirect non-pecuniary or pecuniary 
interest in any contract or transaction with the Board or in any contract or transaction that is 
reasonably likely to be affected by a decision of the Board. 

Actual conflict of interest: a situation where a board member has a private or personal interest that is 
sufficiently connected to his or her duties and responsibilities as a board member that it influences the 
exercise of these duties and responsibilities 
 
Perceived conflict of interest: a situation where reasonably well-informed persons could properly have a 
reasonable belief that a board member may have an actual conflict even where that is not the case in fact 

  
 
Procedure: 
 
1) At the beginning of every Board meeting, the Board Chair shall ask and have recorded in the minutes 

whether any board member has a conflict to declare in respect to any agenda item. 
 

 
 

71 of 134

christina_luukkonen
Typewritten Text
6c-ii) Attachment



PAGE: 2 of 2 REFERENCE #: 02-05-015 
 

2) A Board member shall declare a conflict of interest at the earliest opportunity. In an open session of a 
Board meeting the member may remain in the room. Should the Board be in an in-camera session the 
board member shall leave the room until the agenda item has been decided. 

 
3) In situations where a board member declares a perceived conflict of interest the Board will determine by 

majority vote whether the member(s) participate in the discussion and vote on the item. The minutes 
should reflect the discussion and the Board decision on the matter. Alternately the board member may 
decide on his or her own accord to not participate in the discussion and to not vote on the agenda  item in 
question. 

 
4) Resignation in writing from the Board prior to seeking employment with programs administered by the 

Board; however, the member may seek re-appointment if not successful in the job competition. 
 
Where a conflict of interest is discovered during or after consideration of a matter it is to be declared to the 
Board at the earliest opportunity and recorded in the minutes. If the board determines that the involvement of 
the member declaring the conflict influenced the decision on the matter, the Board shall re-examine the 
matter and may rescind, vary, or confirm its decision. Any action taken by the Board shall be recorded in the 
minutes 
 
Where there has been a failure on the part of a Board member to comply with this policy, unless the failure is 
the result of a bona fide error in judgement as determined by the Board, the Board shall request that the 
Chair, : 

i) Issue a verbal; or 
ii) Issue a written reprimand; or  
iii) Request that the Board member resign or 
iv) Seek dismissal of the Board member based on regulations relevant as to how the board member \ 

was appointed. 
. 
 

 
 

72 of 134



Algoma Public Health – GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE – Policies and Procedures Manual 
 
APPROVED BY: Board of Health REFERENCE #: 02-05-030 
    
DATE: O: June 20, 2007 SECTION: Board 
 Reviewed; June 17, 2014   
 Revised  October 28, 2015   
    
PAGE: 1 of 2 SUBJECT: Board Member Code of 

Conduct 
    

The Algoma Public Health Board believes that its members must adhere to a high standard of 
ethical behavior in all aspects of their conduct at all times and that all members shall fulfill their 
duties in a manner that maintains and enhances confidence in the APH Board.  

POLICY: 

Each member of the Board of Health shall comply with the Code of Conduct for the District of Algoma 
Health Unit (operating as Algoma Public Health). 

CODE OF CONDUCT: 

Board Members shall: 

1) Adhere to all Board of Health bylaws, policies, and rules of procedure and perform their duties with 
integrity, transparency and accountability. 

2) Represent the best interests of public and community health and the respective programs and 
services of Algoma Public Health.  

3) Comply with conflict of interest guidelines and declare conflicts either perceived or actual on 
agenda matters as appropriate. 

4) Keep in confidence any confidential information acquired by virtue of their position as a Board 
member 

5) Preserve a state of neutrality by referring  via email all questions or requests related to APH 
programs and services whether of a personal nature or on behalf of others to the MoH /CEO who 
will be responsible for initiating a course of action appropriate to the circumstances including 
advising the Chair of the request via email and advising the board member and the Chair of the 
outcome.  

6) Review board package materials in advance of  the meeting and  participate productively in the 
meeting .  

7) Recognize that only the Board of Health Chair speaks for the Board on public disclosures unless 
the Chair delegates that responsibility on a specific topic. 

8) Interact with each other, staff and  members of the public with respect, diplomacy and dignity.  

9) Support one another and the MOH/CEO. If a Board member has a performance concern regarding 
the MOH/CEO or a fellow Board member, that concern shall be brought to the Board through the 
Chair. 

10) Agree that the Board of Health Chair will mediate any disputes between Board members and/or the 
MOH/CEO in situations where the parties were unable to resolve the issue.  

 
 

73 of 134

christina_luukkonen
Typewritten Text
6c-iii) Attachment



PAGE: 2 of 2 REFERENCE #: 02-05-030 
 

Where there has been a failure on the part of a Board member to comply with this policy, unless the 
failure is the result of a bona fide error in judgement as determined by the Board, the Board shall 
request that the Chair, : 

i) Issue a verbal; or 
ii) Issue a written reprimand; or  
iii) Request that the Board member resign or 
iv) Seek dismissal of the Board member based on regulations relevant as to how the board 

member \ was appointed. 

 
 

74 of 134



Algoma Public Health – GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE – Policies and Procedures Manual 
 
APPROVED BY: Board of Health REFERENCE #: 02-05-060 
    
DATE: O:  October 28, 2015 SECTION: Board of Health 
    
    
PAGE: 1 of 2 SUBJECT: Meetings and Access to 

Information 
    

PREAMBLE: 
 
As reflected in the Algoma Public Health Strategic Plan the Board of Health strongly supports the principles 
of accountability and transparency.  This policy regarding Meetings and Access to Information instructs the 
Board and informs the public as to: 

i) how meetings of the Board will be held 
ii) how the public can access information from Board meetings 
iii) how information from Board meetings will be disseminated 
iv) the terms under which a meeting or part of a meeting may be closed to the public in accordance 

with Section 239 of the Municipal Act. 

POLICY: 
 
Board of Health meetings are open to the public and the Board will conduct its meetings subject to 
Section 239 of the Municipal Act.  
 
Minutes of Board of Health, Finance Committee and Governance Committee meetings will be posted on 
Algoma Public Health’s Website and emailed to each municipal clerk in Algoma Public Health’s catchment 
area.   
 
Copies of Board records in the possession or under the control of the Secretary to the Board may also be 
made available to members of the public and shall be processed in accordance with the General 
Administrative Manual (GAM) policy for information requests. Payment of the costs of photocopying shall 
be in accordance with the Algoma Public Health fee schedule. 
 
Municipal Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act does not apply to a record of a meeting 
closed under subsection (3.1). 2006, c. 32, Sched. A, s. 103 (3) of the Municipal Act. 
 
In the event that the APH receives a complaint relating to a closed Board of Health meeting the APH will 
utilize the services of the Ombudsman Ontario as the investigator when required in accordance with s.239 
of the Municipal Act. (reference 03-08). 
 
The Secretary to the Board of Health will ensure that members of the media covering Board meetings have 
access to relevant information. 
 
In accordance with Section 239 of the Municipal Act, which also applies to local boards or committees of 
local boards, a meeting or part of a meeting may be closed to the public if the subject matter being 
considered is: 
 

 the security of the property of the Algoma Public Health (APH); 
 
 personal matters involving one or more identifiable individuals, including employees or 

prospective employees; 
 

 proposed or pending acquisition, rent or disposition of land or realty; 
 
 

75 of 134

christina_luukkonen
Typewritten Text
6c-iv) Attachment



PAGE: 2 of 2 REFERENCE #: 02-05-060 
 

 
 reports on charges which have been laid for contravention of by-laws or regulations, but 

which have not yet been dealt with in court; 
 

 labour relations or employee negotiations; 
 

 litigation or potential litigation, including matters before administrative tribunals, affecting the 
board; 
 

 advice that is subject to solicitor-client privilege, including communications necessary for 
that purpose; 
 

 a matter in respect of which a council, board, committee or other body may hold a closed 
meeting under another Act; and 
 

 for the purpose of educating or training the members (reference section 239, Subsection 3.1 
of the Municipal Act.) 
 

A meeting shall be closed to the public if the subject matter relates to the consideration of a request under 
the Municipal Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act if the council, board, commission or 
other body is the head of an institution for the purposes of that Act. 
(1990, c. 25, s. 239 (3)) 
 
Before holding a meeting or part of a meeting that is to be closed to the public, a municipality or local board 
or committee of either of them shall state by resolution, 
 

(a) the fact of the holding of the closed meeting and the general nature of the matter to be 
considered at the closed meeting; or 
 

(b) in the case of education or training sessions, the fact of the holding of the closed meeting, the 
general nature of its subject-matter and that it is to be closed under article 239 subsection 3.1 of 
the Municipal Act. 

 
 
 

 

 
 

76 of 134



 

 

www.algomapublichealth.com 

 

 

 

Blind River 

P.O. Box 194 

9B Lawton Street 

Blind River, ON  P0R 1B0 

Tel: 705-356-2551 

TF:  1 (888) 356-2551 

Fax: 705-356-2494 

Elliot Lake 

50 Roman Avenue 

Elliot Lake, ON  P5A 1R9 

Tel: 705-848-2314 

TF: 1 (877) 748-2314 

Fax: 705-848-1911 

 

Sault Ste. Marie 

294 Willow Avenue 

Sault Ste. Marie, ON  P6B 0A9 

Tel: 705-942-4646 

TF: 1 (866) 892-0172 

Fax:  705-759-1534 

 

Wawa 

18 Ganley Street 

Wawa, ON  P0S 1K0 

Tel: 705-856-7208 

TF: 1 (888) 211-8074 

Fax: 705-856-1752 

 

 

October 28, 2015 

 

The Honourable Kathleen Wynne 

Premier of Ontario 

Legislative Building, Queen’s Park 

Toronto, ON M7A 1A1 

 

 

Dear Premier Wynne, 

 

Re: Northern Ontario Evacuations of First Nations Communities 

 

At its meeting on September 22, 2015 the Board of Health for the District of Algoma Health Unit 

considered the correspondence forwarded by the Sudbury and District Health Unit in regards to 

the evacuations of First Nations communities in Northern Ontario. 

 

This Board supports their recommendations as outlined in their attached letter and hopes that you 

will consider the need for a proactive, planned and adequately resourced evacuation system to 

ensure the safety of all First Nations Communities affected. 

 

Thank you for your consideration. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

 

Lee Mason 

Chair, Board of Health 

 

Attachment 

 

Cc: Hon. Dr. Eric Hoskins, Minister of Health and Long-Term Care 

       Hon. David Orazietti, MPP for Sault Ste. Marie 

       Michael Mantha, MPP for Algoma-Manitoulin 

       Association of Local Public Health Agencies 

       Ontario Boards of Health 

 

 

 

 

 
 

77 of 134

christina_luukkonen
Typewritten Text
7a) Attachment



7b) Attachment

 
 

78 of 134



 
 

79 of 134



 
 

80 of 134



 
 

81 of 134



 
 

82 of 134



 
 

83 of 134



 
 

84 of 134



 
 

85 of 134



 
 

86 of 134



 
 

87 of 134



 
 

88 of 134



 
 
 
 
 
September 30, 2015 
 
The Honourable Pierre Poilievre   The Honourable Kellie K. Leitch 
Minister of Employment and    Minister of Labour 
Social Development     Ministry of Labour 
House of Commons     House of Commons 
Ottawa, ON K1A 0A6     Ottawa, ON K1A 0A6 
pierre.poilievre@parl.gc.ca   Kellie.Leitch@parl.gc.ca  
 
The Honourable Rona Ambrose    The Honourable Kevin Daniel Flynn 
Minister of Health     Minister of Labour 
Ministry of Health     Ministry of Labour 
House of Commons     400 University Avenue, 14th Floor 
Ottawa, ON K1A 0A6     Toronto, ON M7A 1T7 
rona.ambrose@parl.gc.ca   kflynn.mpp@liberal.ola.org  
 
The Honourable Eric Hoskins    The Honourable Tracy MacCharles 
Minister of Health and Long-Term Care   Minister of Children and Youth Services 
Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care   Ministry of Children and Youth Services 
10th Floor, Hepburn Block   56 Wellesley Street West, 14th Floor 
80 Grosvenor Street     Toronto, ON M5S 2S3 
Toronto, ON M7A 2C4    tmaccharles.mpp.co@liberal.ola.org  
ehoskins.mpp@liberal.ola.org   
 
The Honourable Deborah Matthews 
Minister Responsible for the 
Poverty Reduction Strategy 
Room 4320, 4th Floor, Whitney Block 
99 Wellesley Street West 
Toronto, ON M7A 1W3 
dmatthews.mpp.co@liberal.ola.org 
 
Dear Ministers: 
 
Re:  Public health support for a basic income guarantee 
 
At its meeting held on September 9, 2015, the Board of Health for the Peterborough County-City Health 
Unit considered correspondence forwarded and supported by the Windsor-Essex County Health Unit 
regarding joint federal-provincial consideration for a basic income guarantee for Ontarians and all 
Canadians. 
 

 
 

89 of 134

mailto:pierre.poilievre@parl.gc.ca
mailto:Kellie.Leitch@parl.gc.ca
mailto:rona.ambrose@parl.gc.ca
mailto:kflynn.mpp@liberal.ola.org
mailto:tmaccharles.mpp.co@liberal.ola.org
mailto:ehoskins.mpp@liberal.ola.org
mailto:dmatthews.mpp.co@liberal.ola.org
christina_luukkonen
Typewritten Text

christina_luukkonen
Typewritten Text

christina_luukkonen
Typewritten Text

christina_luukkonen
Typewritten Text

christina_luukkonen
Typewritten Text
8a) Attachment



The Board echoes the recommendations originally outlined by the Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit 
(letter attached) urging you to undertake this initiative in order to address the extensive health 
inequities in our province, and across the country. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Original signed by 
 
Councillor Lesley Parnell 
Chair, Board of Health 
 
/at 
Encl. 
 
cc:  The Right Honourable Steven Harper, Prime Minister of Canada 

The Honourable Kathleen Wynne, Premier of Ontario 
Dr. David Williams, Ontario Interim Chief Medical Officer of Health 
Association of Local Public Health Agencies 
Ontario Public Health Association 
Office of the Peterborough Member of Parliament 
MPP Jeff Leal, Peterborough 
MPP Laurie Scott, Haliburton-Kawartha Lakes Brock 
Ontario Boards of Health 

 

 
 

90 of 134



 

May 28, 2015 
 
The Honourable Pierre Poilievre  The Honourable Kellie K. Leitch 
Minister of Employment and   Minister of Labour 
 Social Development    Ministry of Labour 
House of Commons    House of Commons 
Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0A6   Ottawa, ON K1A 0A6 
 
The Honourable Rona Ambrose  The Honourable Kevin Daniel Flynn 
Minister of Health    Minister of Labour 
Ministry of Health    Ministry of Labour 
House of Commons    14th Floor 
Ottawa, ON     400 University Avenue 
K1A 0A6     Toronto, ON M7A 1T7 
 
The Honourable Eric Hoskins   The Honourable Tracy MacCharles 
Minister of Health and Long-Term Care Minister of Children and Youth Services 
Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care Ministry of Children and Youth Services 
10th Floor, Hepburn Block   14th Floor 
80 Grosvenor Street    56 Wellesley Street West 
Toronto, ON M7A 2C4   Toronto, ON M5S 2S3 
 
The Honourable Deborah Matthews 
Minister Responsible for the 
 Poverty Reduction Strategy 
Room 4320, 4th Floor, Whitney Block 
99 Wellesley Street West 
Toronto, ON M7A 1W3 
 
Dear Minister Poilievre, Minister Leitch, Minister Ambrose, Minister Flynn, Minister Hoskins, 
Minister MacCharles, and Minister Matthews: 
 
Re: Public health support for a basic income guarantee 
 
On behalf of the Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit’s Board of Health, I am writing today to 
express our strong support for joint federal-provincial (Ontario) consideration for and 
investigation into a basic income guarantee for Ontarians and all Canadians. 
 
Several reports in recent years have described the extent of poverty and growing income 
inequality in Ontario and Canada.1,2  From a public health perspective, there is a strong literature 
base demonstrating the relationship between both low absolute income, and the extent of 
income inequality in a society, and a range of adverse health and social outcomes. This includes 
morbidity and/or mortality from chronic and infectious disease, mental illness, and infant 
mortality, amongst others.3   Given that 56 000 people (or more than 11% of the population) in 
Simcoe and Muskoka live in low income situations based on the after-tax low-income (2011 
National Household Survey, Statistics Canada), the avoidable burden of disease from low 
income and income inequalities is substantial. 

 

 
 

91 of 134



 

Page 2 

 

In response to these key social and public health challenges, a growing number of individuals 
and organizations in the health, economics, social, and political sectors have proposed the 
introduction of a basic income guarantee for all Canadians, also known as guaranteed annual 
income. A basic income guarantee ensures everyone an income sufficient to meet basic needs 
and live with dignity, regardless of work status. It can be achieved through a range of policy 
approaches. 
 
Basic income is a concept that has been examined and debated for decades, including through 
pilot projects in the United States, Canada, and other countries more recently.4,5  As you may be 
aware, Mincome, in particular, was an encouraging pilot project of basic income for working age 
adults conducted jointly by the Government of Manitoba and the Government of Canada in the 
1970s, which demonstrated several improved health and educational outcomes.4 Basic income 
also resembles income guarantees currently provided in Canada for seniors and children, which 
have contributed to health and social improvements in those age groups. 6,7 
 
In addition to providing an effective policy response to poverty and inequality, a basic income 
guarantee would be a key societal support in the face of rising precarious employment in 
Canada. Given the trend towards fewer opportunities for secure, permanent jobs, providing living 
wages and benefits, a basic income guarantee could help buffer the effects of precarious 
employment by providing a form of ‘disaster insurance’ that protects people from slipping into 
poverty during challenging times.6 
 
There has been recent support for a basic income guarantee from the Canadian Medical 
Association, the Alberta Public Health Association, and the Canadian Association of Social 
Workers. The Canadian Public Health Association is also examining the issue. Beyond the 
health and social sectors, a non-governmental organization by the name of Basic Income 
Canada Network is now dedicated to achieving a basic income guarantee in Canada, and 
several citizen groups are forming across Ontario and Canada in support of this issue.   
 
Advocating for improved income security policies is supportive of the Simcoe Muskoka District 
Health Unit’s strategic direction on the Determinants of Health, which requires the health unit to 
‘Address the factors that create inequities in overall health and improve the quality of life for 
populations at risk of poor health outcomes’. 
 
We urge you to undertake a joint federal-provincial investigation into a basic income guarantee 
in order to address the extensive health inequities in Canada, which are both highly concerning 
and largely preventable. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
Barry Ward 
Chair, Board of Health 

 
 

92 of 134



 

Page 3 
 
c. The Right Honourable Steven Harper, Prime Minister of Canada 

The Honourable Kathleen Wynne, Premier of Ontario 
Dr. David Mowat, Ontario Chief Medical Officer of Health 
Linda Stewart, Association of Local Public Health Agencies 
Pegeen Walsh, Ontario Public Health Association 
Ontario Boards of Health 
Simcoe Muskoka Members of Parliament 
Simcoe Muskoka Members of Provincial Parliament 
North Simcoe Muskoka and Central Local Health Integration Network 
Gary McNamara, President, Association of Municipalities Ontario 
Brock Carlton, Chief Executive Officer, Federation of Canadian Municipalities 
Simcoe Muskoka Municipalities 

 

References 

1. Canadian Index of Wellbeing. How are Ontarians Really Doing?: A Provincial Report on 
Ontario Wellbeing. Waterloo, ON: Canadian Index of Wellbeing and University of Waterloo, 
2014. 

2. Conference Board of Canada. How Canada Performs: A Report Card on Canada. 2013. 
Accessed April 27, 2015. http://www.conferenceboard.ca/hcp/details/society/income-
inequality.aspx 

3. Auger, N and Alix, C. Income, Income Distribution, and Health in Canada. In: Raphael, D 
(Ed). Social Determinants of Health, 2nd edition. Toronto: Canadian Scholars Press Inc, 
2009. 

4. Forget, E. The Town with No Poverty: The Health Effects of a Canadian Guaranteed Annual 
Income Field Experiment.  Canadian Public Policy xxxvii(3) 283-306, 2011. 
http://utpjournals.metapress.com/content/xj02804571g71382/fulltext.pdf 

5. Pasma, C. Basic Income Programs and Pilots. Ottawa: Basic Income Canada Network, 
2014. 
http://www.thebigpush.net/uploads/2/2/6/8/22682672/basic_income_programs_and_pilots_fe
bruary_3_2014.pdf 

6. Emery, J.C.H., Fleisch, V.C., and McIntyre, L. How a Basic income guarantee Could Put 
Food Banks Out of Business. University of Calgary School of Public Policy Research Papers 
6 (37), 2013. 
http://www.policyschool.ucalgary.ca/sites/default/files/research/emery-foodbankfinal.pdf 

7. Milligan, K., and Stabile, M. “Do Child Tax Benefits Affect the Well-Being of Children? 
Evidence from Canadian Child Benefit Expansions”. American Economic Journal: Economic 
Policy 3(3): 175-205, 2011. 

 
 

93 of 134

http://www.conferenceboard.ca/hcp/details/society/income-inequality.aspx
http://www.conferenceboard.ca/hcp/details/society/income-inequality.aspx
http://utpjournals.metapress.com/content/xj02804571g71382/fulltext.pdf
http://www.thebigpush.net/uploads/2/2/6/8/22682672/basic_income_programs_and_pilots_february_3_2014.pdf
http://www.thebigpush.net/uploads/2/2/6/8/22682672/basic_income_programs_and_pilots_february_3_2014.pdf
http://www.policyschool.ucalgary.ca/sites/default/files/research/emery-foodbankfinal.pdf


 
 
 
 
 
September 30, 2015 
 
The Honourable Kathleen Wynne 
Premier of Ontario 
Legislative Building, Queen’s Park 
Toronto, ON M7A 1A1 
premier@ontario.ca  
 
Dear Premier Wynne, 
 
Re:  Northern Ontario Evacuations of First Nations Communities 
 
At its meeting held on September 9, 2015, the Board of Health for the Peterborough County-City Health 
Unit considered correspondence forwarded and supported by the Sudbury District Health Unit regarding 
evacuations of First Nations communities in Northern Ontario. 
 
The Board echoes the recommendations outlined in their letter (attached) and it is our hope that you 
will address the needs of these vulnerable communities and ensure their safe, efficient and effective 
temporary relocation when faced with environmental and weather-related threats. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Original signed by 
 
Councillor Lesley Parnell 
Chair, Board of Health 
 
/at 
Encl. 
 
cc:  Hon. Dr. Eric Hoskins, Minister of Health and Long-Term Care 
 Hon. Yasir Naqvi, Minister of Community Safety and Correctional Services 
 Hon. David Zimmer, Minister of Aboriginal Affairs 
 Hon. Michael Gravelle, Minister of Northern Development and Mines 
 Hon. Bill Mauro, Minister of Natural Resources and Forestry  

MPP Jeff Leal, Peterborough 
MPP Laurie Scott, Haliburton-Kawartha Lakes Brock 
Association of Local Public Health Agencies 
Ontario Boards of Health 

 

 
 

94 of 134

mailto:premier@ontario.ca
christina_luukkonen
Typewritten Text
8b) Attachment



 

An Accredited Teaching Health Unit 
Centre agréé d’enseignement en santé 

 
 
 
 
June 30, 2015 
 
VIA ELECTRONIC MAIL 
 
 
The Honourable Kathleen Wynne 
Premier of Ontario 
Legislative Building, Queen’s Park 
Toronto, ON M7A 1A1 
Email:  premier@ontario.ca 
 
Dear Premier Wynne:  
 
Re: Northern Ontario Evacuations of First Nations Communities 
 
At its meeting on June 18, 2015, the Sudbury & District Board of Health 
carried the following resolution #32-15: 
 

WHEREAS the evacuation and relocation of residents of a number of 
First Nations communities in Northwestern Ontario and along the James 
Bay Coast, is required on a close to annual basis due to seasonal 
flooding and risk of forest fires; and 
 
WHEREAS a safe, effective, and efficient temporary community 
relocation is challenging within the current reactive model; and 
 
WHEREAS a proactive, planned and adequately resourced evacuation 
system would ensure the maintenance of quality evacuation centers in 
pre-selected host municipalities, as well as appropriate infrastructure to 
ensure the health and safety of evacuees in a culturally acceptable 
manner; and  
 
WHEREAS the Thunder Bay District Board of Health passed a motion 
on March 18, 2015, and has submitted a letter dated April 10, 2015 to 
the Honourable Kathleen Wynne requesting that the provincial 
government address the ongoing lack of resources and infrastructure to 
ensure the safe, efficient and effective temporary relocation of First 
Nations communities in Northwestern Ontario and the James Bay coast 
when they face environmental and weather related threats in the form of 
seasonal flooding and forest fires; 
 

 
 

95 of 134



The Honourable Kathleen Wynne 
Re: Northern Ontario Evacuations of First Nations Communities 
Page 2 
 

 

 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Sudbury and District Board of Health 
support the Thunder Bay District Board of Health’s resolution 50-2015 dated March 
18, 2015; and 
 
FURTHER THAT a copy of this motion be forwarded to the Premier of Ontario, 
Ministers responsible for Health and Long-Term Care, Community Safety and 
Correctional Services, Aboriginal Affairs, Northern Development and Mines, Natural 
Resources and Forestry, local area Members of Provincial Parliament and all Ontario 
Boards of Health. 

 
It is the Board’s hope that you will seriously consider the need for a proactive, planned and 
adequately resourced evacuation system which would ensure the safe, efficient and effective 
temporary relocation of First Nation communities in Northwestern Ontario and the James Bay 
coast when these communities are threatened by seasonal flooding and risk of forest fires. 
 
Thank you for your attention to this important public health issue.  
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
 
Penny Sutcliffe, MD, MHSc, FRCPC 
Medical Officer of Health  
 
 
cc: Hon. Dr. Eric Hoskins, Minister of Health and Long-Term Care  
 Hon. Yasir Naqvi, Minister Community Safety and Correctional Services 
 Hon. David Zimmer, Minister of Aboriginal Affairs 
 Hon. Michael Gravelle, Minister of Northern Development and Mines 
 Hon. Bill Mauro, Minister of Natural Resources and Forestry 
 Hon. Glenn Thibeault, MPP Sudbury 
 Hon. France Gélinas, MPP Nickel Belt 
 Linda Stewart, Executive Director, Association of Local Public Health Agencies 
 
 

 
 

96 of 134



 
 
 
 
 
September 30, 2015 
 
The Honourable Dr. Eric Hoskins 
Minister of Health and Long-Term Care 
Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care 
10th Floor, Hepburn Block  
80 Grosvenor Street   
Toronto, ON M7A 2C4 
ehoskins.mpp@liberal.ola.org  
 
Dear Minister Hoskins: 
 
Re:  Energy drinks 
 
At its meeting held on September 9, 2015, the Board of Health for the Peterborough County-City Health 
Unit considered correspondence forwarded and supported by the Windsor-Essex County Health Unit 
regarding energy drinks. 
 
The Board echoes the recommendations originally outlined by the Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph Public 
Health (letter attached) and urges you to take action to protect the health of our children.  
 
Sincerely, 
 
Original signed by 
 
Councillor Lesley Parnell 
Chair, Board of Health 
 
/at 
Encl. 
 
cc:  MPP Jeff Leal, Peterborough 

MPP Laurie Scott, Haliburton-Kawartha Lakes Brock 
Association of Local Public Health Agencies 
Ontario Boards of Health 

 

 
 

97 of 134

mailto:ehoskins.mpp@liberal.ola.org
christina_luukkonen
Typewritten Text
8c) Attachment



PublicHealth
ì¡/ILIINGTON t]UFFIRIN.GUILPH

.Sitnt I li'lL

February 4,2075

DELTVERED VIA REGULAR MAIL & E-MAIL

Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care
Office of the Minister
10ù Floor, Hepbum Block
80 Gtosvenor SÉeet
Totonto, ON M7A 2C4

Attention: Hon. Dr. Eric Hoskins,
Minister

Deat Honourable Dr. Hoskins:

R-E: Energy Ddnlc

Wellington-Duffedn-Gueþh Public Health (WDGPH) supports the recent report Patients First: A¿ion
Planþr Heahb Can, released by the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. In this report, the Healtb.y
Kdr Strateg is higlùighted as a ftamework to support healthy habits from childhood. A,s part of this
strategfr two recorîmendations wete listed that refered to banning the marketing and ptomod.on of
unhealthy foods and beverages to childten. A review of health data andliteratu¡e by WDGPH suggests
that enetgy drinks meet this recommendation.

Energy ddnks arc a tapidly growing compofient of the beverage market and curent research
demonstrates that children and youth are consuming energy ddnks. The main concem about rising
rates of energy drink use is caffeine and sugar contefrt. Overuse of caffeine can conftibute to acute
physical and mental health conditions, and increasing levels of sugat among the diets of children and
youth have alteady been linked to obesity and higher numbers of dental cardes.

Health Carazda has set Recommended Daily Maximum Intake ßDMÐ limits for caffeine, based upon
age. However, the avera,ge 8oz enetgy ddnk contains 80 mg of caffeine, which exceeds the RDMI fot
childten 4-9 years of age. Moteover, energy drinks are often sotd in sizes double that amount, which
would also exceed the RDMI fo¡ childten 70-72years of age. It is therefore conceming that children
and youth can readily access energy drinks.

/z

160 Chancellors Way, Guelph, ON N1G 0E1
Telephone: 51 9-822-27 1 5 | Fax: 5 1 9-836-7 21 5 | www.wdgpublichealth.ca

 
 

98 of 134



o

a

The lV¿ Tirue îo lYait: Healtly Kids Strøegy (201t) made recommendations regarding unhealthy foods and
bevetages for childten. These included:

Ban the marketing of high calode, lov¡-nuftient foods, bevemges and snacks to children unde¡ the
age of 72;and
Ban point-of-sale promotions and dispþs of high-calorie, low-nutdent foods and bevetages in
retail settings, beginning with sugar-sweetened beverages.

Ira207'1., Health Canada enacted labeling requirements on energy ddnks to include'Hkh soutce of
caffeine" and "Not recommended fot chìldren, pregnant ot breastfeeding women and individuals
sensitive to caffeine". Since Health C¡¡ada has acknowledged that this product it not to be consumed
by children, it further supports tJrre Healtþ Kids Strategy (201 3) to ban the marketing and point-of-sale
displays and promotions to childten of such bevetages.

On behalf of the Board of Health fot tlØDGPH, I would like to r¡rge you to considet a timely
implementation of the above-noted recommendations from the Heøltbl Kids Strateg (20ti) beginning
with sugar-sweetened beverages to reduce the consumption of high-calotie, low-nutrient beverages and,

in patticulat, energy drinks by children.

Sincereþ,

Doug
Chair, WDGPH Board of Health

c,c. lVellington-Dufferin-Gueþh MPPs - via e-mail
c.c. Ontario Public Health Units - via e-mail
c.c. Rita Sethi, Dìrector, Community Health & Wellness (WDGPFI) - via e-mail.

2

 
 

99 of 134



PublicHealth
WELLINGION.t]UFFIRIN.GIJiLPH

Stqt,l'l'cll.

Report to:
Submitted by:
Prepared by:

Approved by:
Subject:

BOH Report - 8H.01.F880415.R02
February 412015

[previously defened at the Dec 03/14 BOH mtg + coded BH.OI.DEC03l4.R29]

Board of Health
Dr. Nicola Mercer, Medical Officer of Health & CEO
Jennifer McCorriston, Manager, Chronic l)isease, Injury Prevention
& Substance Misuse
Rita Sethi,I)irector, Community Health & Wellness
ENERGY DRINKS

RECOMMENDATTON(S)

(a) That the Board of Health receives this report for information.

(b) That the Board of Health send a letter to Toronto Public Health applauding their efflorts
to explore a municipal ban on the sale and promotion of energy drinks.

(c) That the Board of Health send a letter to the Minister of Health and local MPP's to
support recommendations 2.I and2.2 inthe No Time to lhaìt: The Healthy Kids
Strategt, and that the letter specifically include l) language to identifr energy drinks as

a high-calorie, low-nutrient beverage of health concern and2) that Health Canada has
already identified energy drinks as "High source of caffeine" and "not recommended for
children, pregnant or breastfeeding women, and individuals sensitive to caffeine" and 3)
that this letter along with a copy of this report be sent to all Public Health units within
the province

Nicola J. MD, MBA, MPH, FRCPC
of Health & CEOMedical

201 5 BOH Report - BH.O l.FEB04I 5.R02
Page I of8

 
 

100 of 134



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

In recent years, an increasing number ofcaffeinated beverages have been introduced into the
Canadian marketplace. These products, known as energy drinks, are generally marketed to
improve energy and concentration. Most energy drinks contain 70 to 80 mg caffeine per I oz
(237 ml) serving.''' The sugar content is typically similar to the amount of sugar in soft
drinks.'

There are a number of health and safety concerns with regard to consumption, labelling and
marketing. Among adolescents and young
energy drinks.3 This raises public health c
caffeine toxicity, which is known to cause hea
rate3'6-8 and insomniaaJ'e. Beyond the potential side-effects of caffeine, increased energy 

-

drink consumption among children and youth could contribute to the obesity epidemic.3'8'10

In light of these concerns there is strong interest to reduce access and marketing of energy
drinks in the province. Recently, Toronto Public Health was given direction to conduct a
feasibility study on reducing access to energy drinks for persons under the age of 19 in the
City of Toronto. Although these efforts should be applauded, aprovincial approach would
have a greater benefit to the health and well-being of the population and therefore it is urged
that the provincial government take immediate action in light of the increasing evidence.

BACKGROUNI)

ln recent ye¿us, an increasing number of caffeinated beverages have been introduced into the
Canadian marketplace. These products, known as energy drinks, are generally marketed to
improve energy and concentration. These beverages typically contain caffeine, taurine (an
amino acid), vitamins, herbal ingredients and sugar or artificial sweeteners. Some ingredients
such as guarana and yerba mate, commonly found in energy drinks are natural sources of
caffeine. Most energy drinks contain 70 to 80 mg caffeine per 8 oz (237 ml) serving.l'2 This
is similar to the amount of caffeine in coffee and approximately 3 times the amount of
caffeine in cola drinks.l The sugar content is typically similar to the amount of sugar in soft
drinks (approximately 2l to 34 grams per 8 oz serving).2

Energy drinks are a rapidly growing component of the beverage market. In 2006, the
Canadian energy drink market was valued at $287 .2 million and is expected to reach $37 5.2

million by 2011.1 Energy drinks are popular with children, youth and young adults. Among
adolescents and young adults, 30-50% consume energy drinks.3

There are a number of health and safety concerns with regard to consumption, labelling and
marketing of energy drinks. A20I3 assessment of the potential health risks in Canada
reported that as of July 2010, 6l adverse reactions were associated with consumption of
energy drinks. Of these, 32 were considered serious with 15 of these involving the cardiac
system (6 ofthese l5 cardiac events occurred in 13-17 year olds).2

2015 BOFI Report - BH.0l.FEB04l5.R02
Page 2 of I

 
 

101 of 134



With increasing concerns of caffeine consumption by Canadians, particularly among
adolescents, Health Canada conducted a scientific assessment of the potential hazards and
exposr¡re associated with caffeinated energy drinks. The common amounts consumed of
similar beverages (e.g. soft drinks) were used to help assess risks for various populations.
This assessment revealed that children and youth are most at risk of exceeding Health
Canada's Recommended Daily Intake (RMDÐ of caffeine because of the volumes consumed
and lower RMDI for these age groups. As such, Health Canada released labeling
requirements in 201l, which included statements on the label such as:

. The amount of caffeine from all sources in mg per container or serving size

. "High source of caffeine" and "not recommended for children, pregnant or
breastfeeding tvomen, and individuals sensitive to caffeine"

¡ "Do not mix with alcohol"ll

In response to Health Canada's approach, several public health units in Ontario, including
WDGPH, formed an Energy Drink Joint Advocacy Work Group to organize a coordinated
public health response to encourage Health Canada to strengthen its actions. On February l,
2012, WDGPH Board of Health passed a resolution to send letters to Health Canada, the
Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care (MOHLTC) and the Chief Medical Offrcer of
Health to adopt the recommendations of the working group.l2

In June 2072, the Association of Local Public Health Agencies (alPHa) took the issue one
step further to pass a resolution (A12-6) on energy drink regulation that supported
recommendations from the Ontario Society of Nutrition Professionals in Public Health
(OSNPPH). 13 These recommendations stated that:

. Health Canada and the Province of Ontario should prohibit the advertising and sale of
energy drinks to children and adolescents.

o Health Canada should require the addition of a warning label to energy drink
packaging that states: "Energt drinks are not recommendedfor use during exercise or
to rehydrate following exercise." The space allocated for warning labels should be at
leastZíYo ofthe total packaging.

¡ Province of Ontario should prohibit the sale of all pre-mixed caffeinated-alcoholic
beverages at Provincial Liquor Outlets or at a minimum require the addition of a
warning label to all pre-mixed caffeinated-alcoholic beverages packaging that states:
"This product contains alcohol and caffeine. Consuming alcohol and caffeine
together may increase your risk of injury."

o Province of Ontario should prohibit the sale of energy drinks at all locations where
alcohol is sold and served.

ANALYSIS/RATIONALE

The literature is showing that children and youth are using energy drinks and the amount of
data is steadily growing. According to the Ontario Drug Use Survey (2013), 39.7% reported
drinking energy drinks in the past year.t4 Similar results were found in the Student Drug Use
Survey of the Atlantic Provinces (2012), where 62% of junior and senior high school students
used energy drinks at least once in the past year and 20Yo used energy drinks once or more

2015 BOH Report- BH.ol.FEB04l5.R02
Page 3 of8

 
 

102 of 134



per month.e

In 201l, the Canadian Pediatric Surveillance Program survey on energy drinks revealed that
more than 30% of youth reported using energy drinks, and among the74I respondents, 9olo

reported some sort of caffeine-related complication.u That same year, the European Food
Safety Authority gathered energy drink consumption data among 16 European countries and
found that6SYo of youth aged 10-18 years consumed energy drinks. This was greater than
adults where 30% of this population reported use.'s To specifically look at children,
researchers in Italy studied energy drink consumption among 916 students. They revealed
That 77.8o/o of sixth graders and 56.2% of eight graders consumed energy drinks less than
once a week, and 16.5 and 6.20/o did so at least once per week.l6 Locally, WDG is collecting
energy drink consumption data among gradeT and grade 10 students through the Youth
Report Card, which will be analyzed in late 2015.

The main concem about rising rates of energy drink use is caffeine. Caffeine consumption in
one's diet can come from a variety of sources, however literature suggests that the vast
majority of caffeine consumed in one's diet comes from beverages.s [.r low to moderate
amounts, caffeine may have some short-term benefits including improvements in certain
aspects of cognition (e.g. reaction time) and athletic performance.2-s Health Canada has
produced recommendations for caffeine consumption across all age groups. For children aged

4-6,7-9 and 10-12 the recommendations are no more than 45 mg/day, 625 mglday and 85
mglday, respectively. For youth, the recommendation is no more than2.S mg/kg of body
weight.lT

Although these guidelines are helpful to direct parental and health ca¡e decisions, potential
caffeine side effects a¡e influenced by a variety of factors inclu{iqg pre-existing health
conditions, current medications and individual tolerance levels.T'18 Thus, when considering
the typical energy drink caffeine content is 80 mg, this is already above the recommendations
set for children under ten years of age. Even for older children, if they are already consuming
caffeine from other sources in their daily diet (e.g. soft drinks, chocolate milk), one energy
drink would put them beyond their recommended limit. This also assumes that children and
youth are buying an 8 oz Q37 ml) serving, when in fact, many energy drinks a¡e sold in sizes
double that amount ranging in caffeine content from 160-180 -g.'
The overuse and side effects from caffeine, particularly among children and youth, is an
emerging public health concem. Caffeine toxicity is defined as "specific symptoms that
emerge as a direct result of caffeine consumption".' Caffeine toxicity can result in adverse
effects such as headachesz{, agitation/anxiety2-7, irregular heart rate3'6-8 and insomniaa'7'e. In
overdoses, "caffeine toxicity can mimic amphetamine poisoning and lead to seizures,
psychosis, ca¡diac arrh¡hmias, and potentiilly, but rarely death".l0 In20l4,the American
Association of Poison Control Centers received 2,808 reports of exposure to energy drinks,
of which 1673 were for children aged 18 and younger.le

In the American Pediatric Association paper on energy drinks, they cite concerns regarding
the use of caffeine in children because of its "potential effects on the developing neurological
and cardiovascular systems and risk of physical dependence and addiction."E Consequently,
children and youth who do not use caffeine daily are at greater risk for caffeine toxicity
because they may be inexperienced and less tolerant to the effects of caffeine.T

20 I 5 BOH Report - BH.OI.FEBO4I 5.R02
Page 4 of I

 
 

103 of 134



Beyond the caffeine risks of energy drinks, they also have the potential to contribute to
childhood obesity.3'8'r0 Studies report that energy drinks typically range from 2l to 34 grams
of sugar per 8 oz serving', although there are some types that are artif,rcially sweetened. This
high sugar content is similar to that of soft drinks, which has already been shown to play a
role in the rising rates of overweight and obesity, and increased risk for dental caries.2'8'20

Additionally, a review of commonly sold energy drinks shows that the carbohydrates
contained in energy drinks range from 3 to 31 grams per 8 oz serving.s For average children
and youth, carbohydrate-containing beverages are not needed within the diet, beyond the
recommended daily intake of lowe¡ fat milk.8 Hence, the American Pediatric Association has
stated that "excessive regular consumption ofcarbohydrate-containing beverages increases
overall daily caloric intake without significant additional nutritional value".8

The rising rates of energy drink consumption among children and youth suggests the energy
drink industry is targeting this segment of the population. Several research papers propose
that energy drinks are largely promoted and advertised to younger generationsT'10'16'lt

Specifically, it has been noted that the industry focuses on appealing to young males with
claims of performance enhancement.T' 

t 5

In 2010, approximately $164 million was spent by the energy drink industry on television,
sports sponsorship, event marketing and social media.ls For example, youth in the United

rage of 124 energy als about 1 ad every
to those viewed on were approximately
energy drink webs

Local jurisdictions have taken it upon themselves to set some regulations for marketing and
sale. In August 2074,the City of Toronto, as directed by their Boa¡d of Health, banned the
sale of energy drinks at all City properties. Furthermore, November 17,2014, the "Toronto
Board of Health Requested the Medical Offrcer of Health, in consultation with other
appropriate staff, to report to the Board of Health on ways and means of preventing children
and youth under the age of majority from buying energy drinks, and on the feasibility of:

. banning energy drink marketing, distribution (sampling) and advertising on City
properties;

. banning the sale of energy drinks to youth and children in all Toronto affiliated
agencies, boards, and commissions including the Canadian National Exhibition in
compliance with the ban at City properties;

o banning the sale of energy drinks to youth and children in Toronto retail outlets; and
. requiring point-of-sale waming signage to be posted in retail outlets to assist in

awareness to the potential dangers that these drinks pose."2l

WDGPH applauds Toronto's action and supports this feasibility study. Nevertheless, since
Health Canada has recognizedthat energy drinks are "not recommended for children", the
next logical step would be to examine provincial regulatory approaches to decrease access
and marketing to children. In the words of the American Pediatric Association "stimulant
containing energy drinks have no place in the diets of children and adolescents".s

In 2013, the Healthy Kids Panel released No Time to Wqit: The Heatthy Kids Strategt " This
report was produced by a panel of experts appointed by the Minister of Health to make
recommendations for the health and well-being of children and youth. On September 4,

20 l5 BOH Report - BH.Ol.FEB04l 5.R02
page 5 of8

 
 

104 of 134



ì

2013, WDGPH Board of Health passed a resolution to send a letter to the MOHLTC
requesting all of the strategies inihe report be endorsed.t3 It i, timely to re-examine
recommendations 2.1 and2.2 in the Healthy Kids Strategy report:

o Ban the marketing of high calorie, low-nutrient foods, beverages and snacks to
children under the age of 12.

¡ Ban point-of-sale promotions and displays of high-calorie, low-nutrient foods and

beverages in retail settings, beginning with sugar-sweetened beverages.

Vy'e propose that WDGPH sends a letter to the Minister of Health and local MPP's asking
them to endorse these recommendations and explicitly state the inclusion of energy drinks.

ln summary, recent research indicates that energy drinks are emerging as a public health
threat to children and youth. Additional research on consumption patterns, long-term health
effects and regulatory approaches is appropriate and may result in future policy
recommendations.

ONTARIO PUBLIC HEALTH STANDARI)

Board of Health Outcomes
¡ The Board of Health is awa¡e of and uses epidemiology to influence the development

of healthy public policy and its programs and services for chronic disease prevention.
o There is increased aw¿reness among community partners about the factors associated

with chronic diseases that are required to inform program planning and policy
development, including the following:
r Community health status;
. Risk, protective, and resiliency factors; and
o The importance of creating healthy environments.

o Policy-makers have the information required to enable them to amend current policies
or develop new policies that would have an impact on the prevention of chronic
diseases.

¡ The public is aware of the importance of healthy eating, healthy weights,
comprehensive tobacco control, physical activity, reduced alcohol use, and reduced
exposure to ultraviolet radiation.

WDGPH STRÁ.TEGIC COMMITMENT

Communiþ an d Partner Relalíonshíps
We will work with ow communities and key stakeholders, and consider their perspectives in
our decision-making processes. We will identifu important partnerships and collaborate to
improve the health of our community.

E vid e nce-I nþ r me d P r actic e s
We will use the best available information to guide our decisions regarding which programs
and services to provide, the manner in which we provide them, and the allocation of our
resources in support ofthese decisions.

2015 BOH Report - BH.Ol.FEB04l5.R02
Page 6 of 8

 
 

105 of 134



HEALTH EQUITY

Health equity is the differences in the quality of health and health care across diverse
populations. It can refer to the equal treatment of individuals or groups in the same
circumstances, or conversely "the principle that individuals who are unequal should be
treated differently according to their level of need".2a

Children and youth are a priority population for health. Many health behaviours are
developed in childhood, therefore certain ¡estrictions for harmful products may be beneficial
until a young person reaches an age where they can access and process all the relevant health
information to make an informed choice. For example,lessons gained from tobacco effofs
show that private industry will target youth using deceptive marketing practices to hook
young people on their products to become lifeJong use.s.25 Youth may not always be able to
discern that they are being targeted and may fall victim to this these aggressive marketing
tactics, which may ultimately have an impact on their long-term health.

APPENDICES

NONE.

REFERENCES

1. Agriculture and AgriFood Canada. (2008). Market brief: The Canadian energl drinkmarket.
Retrieved from http://www.ats.agr.gc.calcan/4469-eng.pdf

2. Rotstein, J., Barber, J., Strowbridge, C., Hayward, S., Huang, R. & Benrejeb Godefroy, S. (2013).
Energy drinks: An assessment of the potential health risks in the Canadian context. International
Food Risk Analysis Journal, 3(4), l-29.

3. Siefert, S. M., Schaechter, J.L., Hershorin, E.R., & Lipshultz, S.E. (2011). Health effects of energy
drinks on children, adolescents, and young adults. Pediatrics, 127(3),511-528.

4. Bordeaux, B. & Lieberman, H.R. (2014). Benefits and risks of caffeine and caffeinated beverages.
UpToDate. Retrieved from http://www.uptodate.com/contents/benefits-and-risks-of-caffeine-and-
caffeinated-beverages

5. Mitchell, D.C., Knight, C.4., Hockenberry, J., Teplansky, R., & Hartman, T.J. (2013). Beverage
caffeine intakes in the US. Food and Chemical Toxicologt 63, 136-142.

6. Taddeo, D., Harvey, J. & Boutin, A- (2012). Health hazards related to energy drinks: Are we
looking for them? Pediatric Child Health I7(2),l0l.

7. Reissig, C.J., Strain, E.C. &. Griffiths, R.R. (2009). Caffeinated energy drinks - A growing
problem. Drug and Alcohol Dependence 99, l-10.

8. American Academy of Pediatrics, Committee on Nutrition and the Council of Sports Medicine and
Fitness. (2011). Clinical report - Sports drinks and energy drinks for children and adolescents: Are
the appropriate? Pediatrics 127(6), I 182-1189.

9. Azagba, S., Langille,D. & Asbridge, M. (2014). An emerging adolescent health risk: Caffeinated
energy drink consumption patterns among high school students. Preventative Medicine 62, 54-59.

10. Gunja, N. & Brown, J.A. (2012). Energy drinks: health risk and toxicity. MJA 196(l), 46-49.

2015 BOH Report - BH.Ol.FEB04l 5.R02
Page 7 of8

 
 

106 of 134



11. Food Directorate, Health Products and Food Branch. (201 l). Health Canada's proposed approach
to managing caffeinated energy drinks. Ottawa, ON: Health Canada.

12. Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph Public Health Board of Health. (2012). BH.q1.DEC03l4.R29 -
Report on energ/ drinks.

13. Association of Local Public Health Agencies. (n.d.). alPHa Resolution 412-6: Energt drink
regulations. Retrieved from

source/collectior/ I BA I FB32-FCDB-488 1 -8D88-

14. Boak, 4., Hamilton, H.4., Adlaf, E.M., & Mann, R.E. (2013). Drug use among Ontario students,

1977-2013: Detailed OSDUHSIìndings (CAMH Research Document Series No. 36). Toronto, ON:
Centre for Addiction and Mental Health.

15. Breda, J.J.,'Whiting, S.H., Encarnacao, R., Norberg, S., Jones, S., Reinbep, M. & Jewell, J.

(2014). Energy drink consumption in Europe: A review of the risks, adverse health effects, and
policy options to respond. Frontiers in Public Health 2,134. Retrieved from

ubh.2014.00134/tull
16. Gallimberti, L., Buja,4., Chindamo, S., Vinelli, A.,Lazzarin, G., Terraneo,4., Scafato, E. &

Baldo, V. (2013). Energy drink consumption in children and early adolescents. European Journal
of P ediatrics I 7 2, I 335-1 340,

17. Health Canada. (2012). Cafeine in Food. Retrieved from http://www.hc-sc.ec.calfti-

18. Thorlton, J., Colby, D.A. & Devine, P. (2014). Proposed actions forthe US Food and Drug
Administration to implement to minimize adverse effects associated with energy drink
consumption. American Journal of Public Health I 04(7), 1 I 75- I I 80.

19. American Association of Poison Control Centers. (n.d.). Energt drinks. Retrieved from

2}.Pomennz, J.L., Munsell, C.R. & Harris, J.L. (2013). Energy Dinks: An emerging public health
hazard for youth. Journal of Public Health Policy 34(2),254-71.

21. Toronto Board of Health. (2014). Board of Health consideration on November 17, 2014: Request

þr report on ways and means of preventing children and youth under the age of majorityfrom
buying energ/ drinks. Retrieved from

22.Healthy Kids Panel. Q0l3). No time to wait: The heolthy kids strategt Retrieved from
s o urce/co I le ction/ 8228C6 0D-0D 03 -4 I 3 E- B 5 9 0 -

23. Wellington Dufferin- Guelph Board of Health. (2012). Report on no time to wait: The healthy kids
strategt. Retrieved from
httpt//uly¡vclepubliçh_ealth..calsites/defa-ullfiles/wdgphhles/BH_01_SEPTO1]jL R3l%2È
%20N o%2}Time %2 0 to %20W ait%o20TheYo20

24. Health Equity. (n.d.). In Wikipedia. Retrieved November 26,20t4 ftom

25. Campaign for Tobacco Free Kids. (2013). Tobacco company marketing to Hds.lFact
sheet]. Retrieved from

201 5 BOH Report - BH.Ol.FEB04l 5.R02
Page 8 of8

 
 

107 of 134



 
 
 
 
 
September 30, 2015 
 
The Honourable Dr. Eric Hoskins 
Minister of Health and Long-Term Care 
Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care 
10th Floor, Hepburn Block  
80 Grosvenor Street   
Toronto, ON M7A 2C4 
ehoskins.mpp@liberal.ola.org   
 
Dear Minister Hoskins: 
 
Re:  Enforcement of the Immunization of School Pupils’ Act (ISPA) 
 
At its meeting held on September 9, 2015, the Board of Health for the Peterborough County-City Health 
Unit considered correspondence forwarded and supported by the Sudbury District Health Unit regarding 
enforcement of the Immunization of School Pupils’ Act 
 
The Board echoes the recommendations outlined in their letter (attached) and urges you to consider 
amending the Act to require all healthcare providers to electronically report immunizations for all 
children attending school in Ontario in a timely and accurate manner. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Original signed by 
 
Councillor Lesley Parnell 
Chair, Board of Health 
 
/at 
Encl. 
 
cc:  MPP Jeff Leal, Peterborough 

MPP Laurie Scott, Haliburton-Kawartha Lakes Brock 
Association of Local Public Health Agencies 
Ontario Boards of Health 

 

 
 

108 of 134

mailto:ehoskins.mpp@liberal.ola.org
christina_luukkonen
Typewritten Text
8d) Attachment



 

An Accredited Teaching Health Unit 
Centre agréé d’enseignement en santé 

June 30, 2015 
 
 
VIA ELECTRONIC MAIL 
 
 
The Honourable Eric Hoskins 
Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care 
10th floor, 80 Grosvenor Street 
Toronto, ON  M7A 2C4 
 
Dear Minister Hoskins: 
 
Re: Enforcement of the Immunization of School Pupils’ Act (ISPA) 
 
Enforcement by the Sudbury & District Board of Health of the July 2014 
legislative changes to the ISPA has highlighted significant challenges for local 
public health with respect to duplicate and incomplete immunization records. 
This is in part due to the fact that health care providers are not required to report 
immunizations to the Medical Officer of Health.   
 
At its meeting on June 18, 2015, the Sudbury & District Board of Health carried 
the following resolution #25-15: 
 

WHEREAS each public health unit in Ontario is required to enforce the 
Immunization of School Pupils Act by assessing and maintaining 
immunization records of school pupils (students) each year; and  
  
WHEREAS parents/guardians whose child(ren) receive vaccine at a health 
care provider other than public health are required to provide notification 
of their child’s immunizations to their local public health unit; and  
  
WHEREAS healthcare providers are not required under the provisions of 
the Health Protection and Promotion Act to report immunizations to the 
Medical Officer of Health; and 
  
WHEREAS incomplete immunization records create significant challenges 
to the enforcement of the ISPA indicated by the numbers of students 
suspended from attendance at school under the Act, as well as parental and 
guardian frustration;  
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Sudbury & District Board of 
Health recommend to the Minister of Health and Long Term Care that 
amendments to provincial regulations be made requiring health care 
providers to report to the Medical Officer of Health all immunizations 
administered to patients under 18 years of age.  

 
 

109 of 134



 

 

Enforcement of the Immunization of School Pupils’ Act (ISPA) 
June 30, 2015 
Page 2 
 
 
 

FURTHER THAT the Sudbury & District Board of Health advocate to the Minister of Health and 
Long Term Care for the integration of all health care provider electronic immunization records 
onto a common electronic data base to ensure efficient and accurate sharing of immunization 
records. 
 
FURTHER THAT this motion be forwarded to the Association of Local Public Health Agencies, 
and to Ontario Boards of Health. 

 
The Board of Health for the Sudbury & District Health Unit takes seriously its responsibility to 
promote and protect the health of children. The Board believes that measures to enable the accurate and 
timely reporting of immunizations by all health care providers for all children attending school in 
Ontario will greatly assist in the effectiveness and efficiency of the Board’s responsibility. 
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
 
Penny Sutcliffe, MD, MHSc, FRCPC 
Medical Officer of Health  
 
cc:   Linda Stewart, Executive Director, Association of Local Public Health Agencies 
 Ontario Boards of Health 
 
 
 

 
 

110 of 134



 
 

111 of 134

christina_luukkonen
Typewritten Text
8d) Attachment



 
 

112 of 134



 
 

113 of 134



 
 

114 of 134



 
 

115 of 134

christina_luukkonen
Typewritten Text
8e) Attachment

christina_luukkonen
Typewritten Text

christina_luukkonen
Typewritten Text



 
 

116 of 134

Erin Meneray
Text Box
BOH - CORRESPONDENCE - 2



 
 

117 of 134



8e) Attachment

 
 

118 of 134



 
 

119 of 134



From:  allhealthunits-bounces@lists.alphaweb.org [mailto:allhealthunits-bounces@lists.alphaweb.org] 
On Behalf Of Linda Stewart 
Sent: October-08-15 12:33 PM 
To: 'All Health Units' <allhealthunits@lists.alphaweb.org> 
Subject: [allhealthunits] Member Update re Public Health Funding 

Please forward to the Chair of your Board of Health.  Thank you. 
_____________________________________________________ 

Dear Public Health Colleague, 

This is to provide you with an update on the actions alPHa is taking regarding the new funding formula in use 
by the MOHLTC for program-based grants to boards of health.  alPHa’s Board of Directors met with 
representatives from the Ministry at its meeting on October 2 and had the opportunity to clarify and provide 
comment on the road ahead. 

The Ministry clarified that in order to apply an increase to program-based grants this year, they were required 
to use a funding formula.  They made the decision to apply the formula recommended in the report of the 
Funding Review Working Group to the funds that were available to provide 2 percent growth.  This resulted in 
8 boards of health receiving increases while the remaining 28 were held to 2014 funding levels.  At the meeting 
on October 2, the ministry communicated to alPHa’s Board that they are open to reviewing the impacts of the 
funding formula and to possible alterations.  They were also clear that there is no guarantee of any further 
funds being available in future years for increases and they have recommended to business administrators to 
plan for zero percent increases into the future. 

As next steps, alPHa is undertaking the following: 

1. Developing a resolution outlining action steps for alPHa Board endorsement that will be shared with
boards of health for their consideration

2. A letter is being prepared to the Minister to provide a formal response to the application of the
funding formula

3. alPHa will be collecting some key pieces of information through a short survey to assist with assessing
the financial impact on public health units and municipalities of the funding formula

4. alPHa will be meeting with representatives of the Association of Municipalities of Ontario (AMO) to
discuss areas of mutual concern

5. alPHa will be meeting with representatives from other parts of the health system that have already
experienced funding changes to determine possible strategies forward

6. alPHa will continue to discuss member concerns with government decision makers
7. alPHa’s Executive Committee and Board of Directors will continue to strategize and communicate with

alPHa members on this issue

Please do not hesitate to contact me with any questions, comments or suggestions. 

Linda 
___________________________________________ 

Linda Stewart 
Executive Director 
Association of Local Public Health Agencies (alPHa) 

8e) Attachment

 
 

120 of 134

mailto:allhealthunits-bounces@lists.alphaweb.org
mailto:allhealthunits-bounces@lists.alphaweb.org
mailto:allhealthunits@lists.alphaweb.org


 
 

121 of 134

christina_luukkonen
Typewritten Text
8f) Attachment



 
 

122 of 134



 
 

123 of 134



 
 

124 of 134



 

2 Carlton Street, Suite 1306 
Toronto ON  M5B 1J3 

Tel: (416) 595-0006 
Fax: (416) 595-0030 

E-mail: info@alphaweb.org 
 

Providing leadership in public health management 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
COMOH Section General Meeting 

(ONE DAY ONLY) 

  
Managing Uncertainty:  Risk Management 

Workshop for Ontario Boards of Health  
(ONE DAY ONLY) 

 
 

Wednesday, November 4, 2015 
9 AM – 3:30 PM (tentative) 

Toronto Ballroom 
DoubleTree by Hilton Hotel Downtown Toronto  

108 Chestnut Street, Toronto 
(near University/Dundas) 

 

 Thursday, November 5, 2015 
8:30 AM – 4:30 PM 
Toronto Ballroom 

DoubleTree by Hilton Hotel Downtown Toronto  
108 Chestnut Street, Toronto 

(near University/Dundas) 
 

Open to: 
 

• Member Medical Officers of Health 
• Member Associate Medical Officers of Health 
• Public Health & Preventive Medicine 

Residents* 

 Open to: 
 

 All Board of Health Members 
 All Medical/Associate Medical Officers of 

Health 
 All Senior Public Health Managers  

 
 

  

$295 + HST per person 
 

To register for the COMOH Section Meeting,  
please click here 

 
* Note: PHPMRs – alPHa regrets it is unable to reimburse 

expenses related to attendance of this meeting 
 

 $295 + HST per person 
 

To register for the Board of Health  
Risk Management Workshop, please click here 

 
See workshop agenda attached 

 
 
 

Hotel guestroom reservations and registration details coming soon! 

 
 

125 of 134

http://www.alphaweb.org/events/Sessions.aspx?id=694759
http://www.alphaweb.org/events/Sessions.aspx?id=689284
christina_luukkonen
Typewritten Text
9a) Attachment



 

 

- PROGRAM - 

Thursday, November 5, 2015 

Toronto Ballroom, DoubleTree by Hilton Hotel, 108 Chestnut Street, Toronto 

8:30–9:00 BOH Section Business Meeting 
 

Mary Johnson, alPHa Board of Health 
Section Chair  

9:00-9:10 
 

Welcome and Introduction Mary Johnson, alPHa Board of Health 
Section Chair  

9:10-10:10 
 

Introduction to Risk Graham Scott, Chair,  Institute For 
Research in Public Policy, Canada 
Health Infoway / Algoma Public Health 
Assessor 

10:10-10:30  Individual Exercise Participant Self-Assessment – Part A  

10:30-11:00 BREAK  

11:00–12:00 
 

Implementation of Risk Management Corinne Berinstein, Senior Audit 
Manager, Treasury Board Secretariat 

12:00-12:30  Exercise & Discussion Participant Self-Assessment – Part B 

12:30-1:30 LUNCH  

1:30-2:30 
 

Case Studies Tony Hanlon, CEO & Justin Pino, CFO, 
Algoma Public Health 

  Hazel Gilchrist, Director, Corporate 
Services, KFLA Public Health 

2:30-3:00  Exercise & Discussion Participant Self-Assessment- Part C 

3:00-3:30 BREAK  

3:30-4:20 Insights, Comments & Next Steps Group Discussion 

4:20-4:30 Wrap Up Mary Johnson, alPHa Board of Health 
Section Chair  

www.alphaweb.org 

 
 

126 of 134



 

ALGOMA PUBLIC HEALTH FINANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE MEETING 

JULY 22, 2015 

SAULT STE MARIE ROOM B, 1
ST

 FLOOR 

MINUTES 
 

BOARD MEMBERS 

PRESENT 

Ian Frazier Lee Mason Candace Martin 

Dennis Thompson   

    

REGRETS:    

    

ALGOMA PUBLIC 

HEALTH STAFF 

PRESENT: 

Acting Chief Executive Officer Sandra Laclé 

Chief Financial Officer Justin Pino 

Recording Secretary Christina Luukkonen 

   

1) CALL TO ORDER: 

I. Frazier called the meeting to order at 10:30AM 

 

2) DECLARATION OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

Ms. Martin declared a conflict of interest for item 7a) Opening RFP Submissions 

 

3) ADOPTION OF AGENDA ITEMS dated July 22, 2015   

FC2015-18 Moved: L. Mason 

 Seconded: C. Martin 

 THAT the agenda items dated July 22, 2015 be adopted as circulated. 

 CARRIED. 

 

4) ADOPTION OF MINUTES dated June 11, 2015 

FC2015-19 Moved: L. Mason  

 Seconded: D. Thompson 

 THAT the minutes for the Finance Committee dated June 11, 2015 be adopted as circulated. 

 CARRIED. 

 

5) FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE PERIOD ENDING: JUNE 30, 2015 

J. Pino presented the financial statements for the period ending June 30, 2015. The committee has 

informed that we still have not heard from the Ministry on the requested 2015 budget. 

Questions were asked regarding noted variances in the report. J. Pino explained that municipal levy 

variance depends on the municipality payment cycle. J. Pino will investigate further and report back to 

Board members questioning the two noted variances that relate to the Northern Ontario Fruits & 

Vegetable Program and HPV Vaccine. 

 

6) BUSINESS ARISING FROM MINUTES 

None to report. 

 

7) THAT THE BOARD GO INTO COMMITTEE 10:45am 

a) Litigation 

FC2015-20 Moved: L. Mason 

 Seconded: D. Thompson 

 THAT the Committee goes in-committee.  

 CARRIED. 

 

 
 
 

127 of 134

christina_luukkonen
Typewritten Text
9b) Attachment



Finance and Audit Committee Minute 

July 22, 2015 

Page 2 

 

8) THAT THE BOARD GO INTO OPEN MEETING 11:05am 

FC2015-22 Moved: L. Mason 

 Seconded: C. Martin 

 THAT the Committee goes into open meeting.  

 CARRIED. 

 

9) ADDITIONS TO AGENDA 

No items to add to the agenda. 

 

10) NEW BUSINESS/GENERAL BUSINESS 

a) Opening RFP Submissions 

Six RFP’s were received in response to our Request for Architectural/Engineering/Project Management 

Services.  C. Luukkonen opened each submissions received and read out the names. Three copies of 

each proposal were received. 

 

RFPs were received from: 

1. Ergo Office Plus 

2. EPHO Inc. 

3. David Ellis Architect Inc. 

4. Mitchell Architects 

5. Sawchuk Peach Associates and John R. Hamalainen Engineering Ltd. 

6. MGP Architects Engineer Inc. 

 

The Committee decided to review and score each proposal independently and then discuss and score as 

a group for final decision. 

 

The Committee unanimously agreed to award the Request for Proposal to David Ellis Architect Inc. 

subject to reference check.  

FC2015-23 Moved: L. Mason 

 Seconded: D. Thompson 

THAT the Board of Health accepts David Ellis Architect Inc. subject to reference checks and 

other due diligent to serve as the Architectural Engineering/Project Management service 

provider for the Elliot Lake office – ELNOS Building Interior Renovations. 

 CARRIED. 

 

11) ITEMS IDENTIFIED TO BE BROUGHT FORTH TO THE BOARD 

None were identified. 

 

12) NEXT MEETING: TBD 
 

13) THAT THE MEETING ADJOURN: 1:15pm 

FC2015-24 Moved: C. Martin 

 Seconded: L. Mason 

 THAT the meeting adjourns. 

 CARRIED. 
 

 
 

128 of 134



 

ALGOMA PUBLIC HEALTH FINANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE MEETING 

SEPTEMBER 17, 2015 

SAULT STE. MARIE ROOM A, 1
ST

  FLOOR, APH SSM 

MINUTES 

 

BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT Ian Frazier Lee Mason Candace Martin 
(teleconference) 

 Dennis Thompson 

 

  

REGRETS:    

    

ALGOMA PUBLIC HEALTH 

STAFF PRESENT: 

Acting Chief Executive Officer Tony Hanlon 

Chief Financial Officer Justin Pino 

Recording Secretary Trina Mount 

   

1) CALL TO ORDER: 

I. Frazier called the meeting to order at 4:17 pm. 

 

2) DECLARATION OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

None were reported. 

 

3) ADOPTION OF AGENDA ITEMS dated September 17, 2015   

Additions to the agenda were agreed to as follows:   

8a) Public Health Funding Formula Review  

8b) Reserves Definition and Usage 

 

FC2015-25 Moved: L. Mason 

 Seconded: C. Martin 

 THAT the agenda items dated September 17, 2015, be adopted as amended. 

 CARRIED. 

 

4) ADOPTION OF MINUTES dated July 22, 2015 

 

FC2015-26 Moved: L. Mason  

 Seconded: D. Thompson 

 THAT the minutes as amended for the Finance Committee dated July 22, 2015, be adopted as 

amended. 

 CARRIED. 

 

5) FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE PERIOD ENDING:   August 31, 2015 

This item was covered under 8a) Public Health Funding Review 

 

6) BUSINESS ARISING FROM MINUTES 

 

a) ELNOS Progress 

APH is actively working with the architect, David Ellis, on the new Elliot Lake APH site. He 

distributed copies of a related email (reading aloud for the benefit of C. Martin who participated by 

teleconference). The final product, he said, is targeted to be ready by Wednesday, September 23; the 

tender closing date is September 30. J. Pino assured that the plan committed to in the RFP by David 

Ellis is within only a couple of days of being fully on schedule.  The Committee instructed the 

 
 

129 of 134

christina_luukkonen
Typewritten Text
9b) Attachment



Finance and Audit Committee Minute 

September 17, 2015 

Page 2 

 

CEO/CFO to review the tender, following which it will go to the Board for analysis and input.  

 

J. Pino relayed that staff have been engaged for input and through advice of the architect have 

addressed most concerns. J. Pino will ensure that the Board is provided with the final drawing plan at 

the September meeting.  

 

7) NEW BUSINESS/GENERAL BUSINESS  

a) Board Budget 
L. Mason had requested information on the BOH budget citing concerns on how much has been spent 

as a result of the increased number of meetings.  J. Pino responded that while expenditures are over 

what is typical to cover the cost of meetings, the Board budget remains in good position for the rest of 

the year.  

 

b) Board Protocol 

Board protocol was reviewed.  Board members were reminded to funnel queries through the Board 

Chair and the CEO.  If questions arise from Committee meetings (Finance or Governance) then the 

Chair of the Committee should also be copied. T. Hanlon and J. Pino to bring related policy, tightened 

to reflect the conversation and the procedures discussed at this table to the next Board meeting. 

C. Martin added that the Board would benefit from a retreat to gain knowledge on these types of issues. 

It was acknowledged this would be valuable and I. Frazier agreed to bring forth to a Governance 

meeting to compile topics to be addressed at the retreat.  

 

c) Meeting Schedule 

J. Pino informed that a new schedule for Board meetings (to better accommodate Dr. Sutcliffe’s 

schedule) will be proposed at the next Board of Health meeting.  The Finance Committee was asked to 

consider whether these meetings should be moved ahead by a week to dovetail the Board meetings with 

the current one-week gap or to maintain as is. Discussion took place and it was decided that this would 

be addressed further at the BOH meeting.  As well, the start time for meetings will be examined.    

 

8) ADDITIONS TO AGENDA 

 

a)  Public Health Funding Review 

J. Pino apprised the Board of the revised Public Health funding model set out by the Ministry – an 

equity adjusted population model. I. Frazier, T. Hanlon and J. Pino participated in a Ministry 

Teleconference this morning which spoke to this new funding.  He described the drivers and related 

indicators as follows: 

1. Service Cost:  geography, language 

2. Drivers of Need:  aboriginal, Ontario marginalization index, preventable mortality rate 

J. Pino relayed the funding by health unit indicating which have been historically underfunded and 

overfunded according to this new equitable formula. He described the impact to Algoma Public Health, 

saying that there will be no growth funding for the next 3 years. One-time funding requests will still be 

permitted to be submitted. J. Pino referenced the Notes to Financial Statements reviewing the piece 

related to Public Health expenses budget. It was raised that the sale/lease back is expiring next year and 

that this committee will need to consider options.  It was also noted that the Ministry agreed that APH 

could apply for one-time funding for purchased services to fill the Acting CEO and MOH role. 

Discussion took place on the new funding formula impact to costs such as inflation, general wage 

increases and collective bargaining agreements. J. Pino responded that a budgeting process strategy has 

started.  T. Hanlon added that APH is striving to substantiate what the plans will look like for the three 

 
 

130 of 134



Finance and Audit Committee Minute 

September 17, 2015 

Page 3 

 

years and the potential effect on outlying communities. Further to a Board query, J. Pino affirmed that 

APH continues to examine the Genetics program (whether to maintain or divest) and T. Hanlon added 

that similar consideration is being given to the PPNP program.  This will be brought forth at the 

September Board meeting. J. Pino responded to queries related to staffing of vacant positions, stating 

that some were deliberately on hold until the budget was announced.  

 

b)  Reserves Definition and Usage 

Discussion took place around reserves – definition and usage.  I. Frazier clarified the purpose as being 

to ensure proper protocols were being followed. It was noted that a policy was approved a few months 

back. The Committee was apprised of the amount in our GIC fund.  J. Pino offered to consult auditors 

around appropriate usage for the funds; he will bring the finding back to this Committee, following 

which it will be brought to the Board of whole.  

 

9) THAT THE BOARD GO INTO COMMITTEE 5:50 p.m. 

Agenda items: 

a) Adoption of Minutes from Previous In-Committee meeting dated July 22, 2015 

 

10) THAT THE BOARD GO INTO OPEN MEETING 5:55 p.m. 

FC2015-29 Moved: C. Martin 

 Seconded: L. Mason 

 THAT the Committee goes into open meeting.  

 CARRIED. 

 

11) ITEMS IDENTIFIED TO BE BROUGHT FORTH TO THE BOARD 

1.  New Ministry Funding Model  

2.  ELNOS:  Floor Plan  

3.  Meeting Schedule 

4.  Board Budget Update FYI (typically provided in January–considering moving this to 

November) 

12) NEXT MEETING: TBD 

 

13) THAT THE MEETING ADJOURN: 6:01 p.m. 

FC2015-30 Moved: D. Thompson 

 Seconded: C. Martin 

 THAT the meeting adjourns. 

 CARRIED. 
 

 
 

131 of 134



 

ALGOMA PUBLIC HEALTH  

GOVERNANCE STANDING COMMITTEE MEETING 

AUGUST 26
TH

 , 2015 

WHITE RIVER MEETING ROOM, 3
RD

 FLOOR, APH SSM 

MINUTES 

 

BOARD MEMBERS 

PRESENT 

Ian Frazier Lee Mason Candace Martin 

    

ALGOMA PUBLIC 

HEALTH STAFF 

PRESENT: 

Acting Chief Executive Officer Sandra Laclé 

Chief Executive Officer Tony Hanlon, Ph.D. 

Director of Human Resources and Corporate Services Antoniette Tomie 

 Recording Secretary Christina Luukkonen 

   

1) CALL TO ORDER: 

Mr. Frazier called the meeting to order at 4:12 pm.  

 

2) DECLARATION OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

None were reported.  

 

3) ADOPTION OF AGENDA ITEMS dated August 26, 2015   

GC2015-11 Moved: L. Mason 

 Seconded: C. Martin 

 THAT the agenda items dated August 26, 2015 be adopted as circulated. 

 CARRIED. 

 

4) ADOPTION OF MINUTES 

GC2015-12 Moved: L. Mason 

 Seconded: C. Martin 

 THAT the minutes for the Governance Standing Committee dated July 22, 2015 be adopted as 

amended. 

 CARRIED. 

 

5) BUSINESS ARISING FROM MINUTES 

a) Terms of Reference 

The Committee reviewed the Terms of Reference. Changes to membership and distribution to be made 

by C. Luukkonen and added to the September Board meeting agenda for Board approval. 

GC2015-13 Moved: C. Martin 

 Seconded: L. Mason 

 THAT the Governance Standing Committee approves the Terms of Reference for the 

Governance Standing Committee as amended and put forth to the Board for approval 

 CARRIED. 

 

b) APH Performance Monitoring Plan 

The APH Performance Monitoring Plan was reviewed. Concern was raised with 2015 being the 

baseline year. The Committee approved the plan but will request the Board be flexible with the 

deadlines for this year. 

 

Board evaluations were discussed. It was decided that the results for the monthly evaluations would be 

reviewed at the next month’s Board meeting and the annual evaluation would be reviewed at the 

Committee meeting and presented to the Board with recommendations and a plan of action. The 

 
 

132 of 134

christina_luukkonen
Typewritten Text
9c) Attachment



Governance Standing Committee 

August 26, 2015 

Page 2 

 

comments submitted on the evaluation will be reviewed in-camera on quarterly bases. 

GC2015-14 Moved: C. Martin 

 Seconded: L. Mason 

 THAT the Governance Standing Committee approves the Performance Monitoring Plan as 

amended and with flexibility with start date/baseline and put forth to the Board for approval. 

 

c) MOH/CEO Recruitment 

S. Laclé and A. Tomie updated the Committee on the recruitment efforts for a permanent MOH/CEO. 

Job posting has recently been advertised in the Montreal Gazette. We will continue to post on the 

various websites for the next few months and will start with a more aggressive approach again in the 

spring. Dr. Sutcliffe will continue in the acting role on a month-to-month basis. 

 

6) NEW BUSINESS/GENERAL BUSINESS 

None to report. 

 

7) Additions to Agenda 

a) Ministry Teleconference 

Mr. Mason updated the Committee on the teleconference with the Ministry on August 26. The Ministry 

is focusing on governance as a whole for municipal and provincial appointees for all health units not 

just Algoma. They are in the process of hiring a consultant to create a report and develop a plan for 

skills base members. The process could take up to 6 months to complete. At this time they are not 

looking to fill any of the vacant positions on our Board. 

 

The 2014 Audit is now complete. Final teleconference to be scheduled to discuss the final steps. 

 
S. Laclé updated the Committee on the Ontario Public Health Organizational Standards Compliance 

Checklist/Attestation that Algoma Public Health was required to complete for the Ministry. Five 

outstanding items were identified and discussed. We are the first health unit to complete the checklist based 

on the organizational standards. 

 

The Committee discussed the need to have an overview of the organizational standards again. To be 

discussed at the September Board meeting. 

 

8) THAT THE BOARD GO INTO COMMITTEE 5:23 pm 

GC2015-15 Moved: L. Mason 

 Seconded: C. Martin 

 THAT Governance Standing Committee goes in-committee at 5:23 for Labour Relations. 

 CARRIED. 

 

9) THAT THE BOARD GO INTO OPEN MEETING 5:45 pm 

GC2015-17 Moved: C. Martin 

 Seconded: L. Mason 

 THAT Governance Standing Committee goes into open meeting at 5:45pm. 

 CARRIED. 

 

10) ITEMS IDENTIFIED TO BE BROUGHT FORTH TO THE BOARD 

a) Terms of Reference for Committee 

b) Performance Monitoring Plan 

 
 

133 of 134



Governance Standing Committee 

August 26, 2015 

Page 3 

 

c) Organizational Standards 

d) Board of Governance Community Event in October 

e) Board Matrix 

Mr. Frazier thanked Ms. Laclé for her leadership over the last five months and welcomed Tony Hanlon 

as the new Interim Chief Executive Assistant. Ms. Laclé expressed her thanks for their support during 

her time with Algoma Public Health. 

 

11) NEXT MEETING: TBD 

 

12) THAT THE MEETING ADJOURN: 5:53 pm 

GC2015-18 Moved: L. Mason 

 Seconded: C. Martin 

 THAT the meeting adjourns at 5:53 pm. 

 CARRIED. 
 

 
 

134 of 134


	150930 Basic Income Guarantee ns
	Basic Income Guarantee WEC
	BIG WEC
	Basic Income Guarantee SMDHU

	150930 Evacuation of FN Northern Communities ns
	150930 Evacuation of FN Northern Communities
	150930 Evacuation of FN Northern Communities
	Nor ON FN Communities Sudbury

	150930 Hoskins Energy Drinks ns
	Energy Drinks WEC
	WEC Alcohol Availability
	Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph Res Re Energy Drinks-Feb 42015

	150930 Hoskins ISPA ns
	150930 Hoskins ISPA ns
	ISPA Sudbury

	ISPA Sudbury
	GBHU BOH Resolution 2015-88, Public Health Funding.pdf
	Public Health Funding - Porcupine BOH Motion # 2015 39.pdf
	Providing leadership in public health management
	Blank Page



